

California Public Utilities Commission

ADVICE LETTER



LINLINGTUTILITY			
MUST BE COMPLETED BY UTILITY (Attach additional pages as needed)			
Company name/CPUC Utility No.: Center for Su	stainable Energy® (CSE)		
Utility type: ELC GAS WATER PLC HEAT	Contact Person: Sephra Ninow Phone #: (858) 244-1186 E-mail: sephra.ninow@energycenter.org E-mail Disposition Notice to: sephra.ninow@energycenter.org		
EXPLANATION OF UTILITY TYPE ELC = Electric GAS = Gas WATER = Water PLC = Pipeline HEAT = Heat	(Date Submitted / Received Stamp by CPUC) April 9, 2019		
Advice Letter (AL) #: 92-A	Tier Designation: N/A		
Subject of AL: Supplement: Center for Sustainable Implementation Plan in Accordance	Energy's Revised Solar On Multifamily Affordable Housing Program e with Resolution E-4987		
Keywords (choose from CPUC listing): Complian AL Type: Monthly Quarterly Annual			
	on order, indicate relevant Decision/Resolution #:		
Does AL replace a withdrawn or rejected AL? I	If so, identify the prior AL: $_{ m Yes;\ CSE\ AL}$ 92		
Summarize differences between the AL and the prior withdrawn or rejected AL: Minor revisions to Attachment 🛦			
Confidential treatment requested? Yes 🗸 No			
If yes, specification of confidential information: $\rm N/A$ Confidential information will be made available to appropriate parties who execute a nondisclosure agreement. Name and contact information to request nondisclosure agreement/access to confidential information: $\rm N/A$			
Resolution required? Yes V No			
Requested effective date: 5/9/19	No. of tariff sheets: $_{\mathrm{0}}$		
Estimated system annual revenue effect (%): $_{ m 0}$			
Estimated system average rate effect (%): 0			
When rates are affected by AL, include attachment in AL showing average rate effects on customer classes (residential, small commercial, large C/I, agricultural, lighting).			
Tariff schedules affected: $_{ m N/A}$			
Service affected and changes proposed ^{1:} Center for Sustainable Energy's Revised Solar On Multifamily Affordable			
Pending advice letters that revise the same tariff sheets: $_{ m N/A}$			

Protests and all other correspondence regarding this AL are due no later than 20 days after the date of this submittal, unless otherwise authorized by the Commission, and shall be sent to:

CPUC, Energy Division Attention: Tariff Unit 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco, CA 94102

Email: EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov

Name: Sephra Ninow

Title: Associate Director, Regulatory Affairs Utility Name: Center for Sustainable Energy®

Address: 3980 Sherman St., Suite 170 Zip Code: 92110
City: San Diego State: California

Telephone (xxx) xxx-xxxx: (858) 244-1186 Facsimile (xxx) xxx-xxxx: (858) 244-1178 Email: sephra.ninow@energycenter.org

Name:

Title:

Utility Name:

Address:

City: State: California

Telephone (xxx) xxx-xxxx: Facsimile (xxx) xxx-xxxx:

Email:

ENERGY Advice Letter Keywords

Affiliate	Direct Access	Preliminary Statement
Agreements	Disconnect Service	Procurement
Agriculture	ECAC / Energy Cost Adjustment	Qualifying Facility
Avoided Cost	EOR / Enhanced Oil Recovery	Rebates
Balancing Account	Energy Charge	Refunds
Baseline	Energy Efficiency	Reliability
Bilingual	Establish Service	Re-MAT/Bio-MAT
Billings	Expand Service Area	Revenue Allocation
Bioenergy	Forms	Rule 21
Brokerage Fees	Franchise Fee / User Tax	Rules
CARE	G.O. 131-D	Section 851
CPUC Reimbursement Fee	GRC / General Rate Case	Self Generation
Capacity	Hazardous Waste	Service Area Map
Cogeneration	Increase Rates	Service Outage
Compliance	Interruptible Service	Solar
Conditions of Service	Interutility Transportation	Standby Service
Connection	LIEE / Low-Income Energy Efficiency	Storage
Conservation	LIRA / Low-Income Ratepayer Assistance	Street Lights
Consolidate Tariffs	Late Payment Charge	Surcharges
Contracts	Line Extensions	Tariffs
Core	Memorandum Account	Taxes
Credit	Metered Energy Efficiency	Text Changes
Curtailable Service	Metering	Transformer
Customer Charge	Mobile Home Parks	Transition Cost
Customer Owned Generation	Name Change	Transmission Lines
Decrease Rates	Non-Core	Transportation Electrification
Demand Charge	Non-firm Service Contracts	Transportation Rates
Demand Side Fund	Nuclear	Undergrounding
Demand Side Management	Oil Pipelines	Voltage Discount
Demand Side Response	PBR / Performance Based Ratemaking	Wind Power
Deposits	Portfolio	Withdrawal of Service
Depreciation	Power Lines	





Center for Sustainable Energy 3980 Sherman Street, Suite 170 San Diego, CA 92110 Tel 858-244-1177 Fax 858-244-1178 EnergyCenter.org

April 9, 2019

Advice No. 92-A (Center for Sustainable Energy®)

Advice No. 12-A (GRID Alternatives)

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA ENERGY DIVISION

SUBJECT: Supplement: Center for Sustainable Energy's Revised Solar On Multifamily

Affordable Housing Program Implementation Plan in Accordance with

Resolution E-4987.

PURPOSE

In accordance with Ordering Paragraph (OP) 2 of California Public Utilities Commission (Commission) Resolution E-4987,¹ the Center for Sustainable Energy[®] (CSE), on behalf of the Solar On Multifamily Affordable Housing (SOMAH) Program Administrator (PA) Team,² respectfully submits this joint supplemental Advice Letter (AL) to provide the Revised SOMAH Program Implementation Plan (PIP).

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION

On December 18, 2017, the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC or Commission) issued D.17-12-022 (Decision), establishing the SOMAH Program and providing program goals, eligibility requirements, program administration and incentive funding, and guidance for the selection of a statewide Program Administrator (PA) to oversee the newly created SOMAH program. D.17-12-022 directed the SOMAH PA to submit a proposed Program Handbook and a proposed Program Implementation Plan (PIP) via Tier 3 Advice Letter by August 31, 2018.

_

¹ Resolution E-4987, Resolution Approving with Modifications GRID Alternatives Advice Letter 11-E, the Solar on Multifamily Affordable Housing Program Handbook and Center for Sustainable Energy Advice Letter 92-E, Program Implementation Plan in Compliance with Decision (D.)17-12-022 (Resolution E-4987), April 2, 2019, page 35, OP 2.

² The SOMAH PA team is comprised of the Association for Energy Affordability (AEA), Center for Sustainable Energy® (CSE), and GRID Alternatives (GRID), as well as its subcontractors, including the California Housing Partnership Corporation (CHPC), Rising Sun Energy Center, and rotating community-based organizations.

On August 22, 2018, in accordance with Rule 16.6 of the CPUC Rules of Practice and Procedure, CSE, on behalf of the SOMAH PA, submitted a request for a 30-day extension to submit the Tier 3 Implementation Advice Letter for the SOMAH Program. CSE also requested permission to submit the proposed SOMAH PIP and proposed SOMAH Program Handbook as two separate Tier 3 Advice Letters to avoid any unnecessary delays in the SOMAH Program launch.

On August 31, 2018, the Commission's Executive Director, Alice Stebbins, granted the request for a 30-day extension, permitting the proposed SOMAH PIP and proposed SOMAH Program Handbook to be submitted no later than October 1, 2018. The extension approval additionally clarified that OP 10 of D.17-12-022 does not explicitly require the SOMAH PA to submit the proposed SOMAH PIP and proposed SOMAH Program Handbook in a single Advice Letter.

On October 1, 2018, pursuant to OP 10 of D.17-12-022 and in accordance with the extension approval, CSE, on behalf of the SOMAH PA, submitted the Proposed SOMAH PIP via CSE Advice Letter 92, et al.³ Also on October 1, 2018, GRID Alternatives, on behalf of the SOMAH PA, submitted the Proposed SOMAH Handbook via GRID Advice Letter 11, et al.⁴

On October 22, 2018, SDG&E, PG&E, and SCE (IOUs) protested CSE Advice Letter 92, et al., regarding the following elements of the SOMAH PIP: (1) sharing of identified data/data access; (2) administrative costs, budget information, and IOU responsibilities; (3) application review, documentation, and consumer protection; (4) conflict of interest policy; and (5) metrics to evaluate marketing, education, and outreach (ME&O).

On October 29, 2018, CSE, on behalf of the SOMAH PA Team, timely replied to the IOUs' protest of CSE Advice Letter 92, et al. CSE respectfully requested that the Commission reject the Protests of SDG&E, SCE, and PG&E, and approve the Advice Letter as submitted.

On February 25, 2019, Energy Division (ED) issued Draft Resolution E-4987,⁵ approving with modifications GRID Alternatives Advice Letter 11, et al. and CSE Advice Letter 92, et al. On March 28, 2019, the Commission having made minor revisions to Draft Resolution E-4987, approved Resolution E-4987.

³ CSE Advice Letter 92 / GRID Alternatives Advice Letter 12, *Proposed Solar On Multifamily Affordable Housing (SOMAH) Program Implementation Plan Pursuant to California Public Utilities Commission Decision 17-12-022*, October 1, 2018, (CSE Advice Letter 92, et al.).

⁴ GRID Alternatives Advice Letter 11 / CSE Advice Letter 93, *Proposed Solar On Multifamily Housing (SOMAH) Program Handbook Pursuant to California Public Utilities Commission Decision 17-12-002*, October 1, 2018 (GRID Advice Letter 11, et al.).

⁵ Draft Resolution E-4987, Resolution Approving with Modifications GRID Alternatives Advice Letter 11-E, the Solar on Multifamily Affordable Housing Program Handbook and Center for Sustainable Energy Advice Letter 92-E, Program Implementation Plan in Compliance with Decision (D.)17-12-022 (Draft Resolution E-4987), February 25, 2019.

OP 2 of Resolution E-4987 directs the SOMAH PA to submit supplemental Advice Letters within 15 days of Commission issuance of Resolution E-4987 with directed modifications to the SOMAH Handbook and SOMAH PIP.

Accordingly, CSE, on behalf of the SOMAH PA Team, hereby submits this joint supplemental Advice Letter to implement modifications to the SOMAH PIP as directed by OP 2 of Resolution E-4987 in Attachment A (redlined version) and Attachment B (clean version) to this Advice Letter.

GRID Alternatives, on behalf of the SOMAH PA Team, will timely submit a joint supplemental Advice Letter with directed amendments to the SOMAH Program Handbook.

DIRECTED MODIFICATIONS TO THE SOMAH PIP

The directed modifications to the Proposed SOMAH PIP, to be reflected in the approved Revised SOMAH PIP, are shown in redlined format in Attachment A and summarized below:

- Section I: Introduction
 - Modified to include an additional paragraph specifying roles and responsibilities.
- Section III: Requirements for Documentation of Property Eligibility
 - Subsection B: SOMAH Required Multifamily Low-Income Housing Eligibility Documentation
 - Modified to include a clarification regarding the requirement for an interconnection authorization letter.
- Section VII⁶: Energy Efficiency Requirements
 - o Modified to include a clarification regarding existing or planned EV charging.
- Section VIII: Data Collection and Reporting
 - Subsection B: Semi-annual Expense Report (SAER)
 - Modified to include a clarification on reporting metrics.
- Section XIII: Marketing, Education, and Outreach
 - Modified to include a clarification that SOMAH PA will track types and volume of calls.

PROTESTS

In accordance with OP 2 of Resolution E-4987, anyone wishing to protest this Advice Letter may do so by letter sent via U.S. mail or electronically, any of which must be received no later

⁶ Resolution E-4987 incorrectly identifies page 18 of the SOMAH PIP, Section VII: Energy Efficiency Requirements, as "Section VIII" (Resolution E-4987 at 38). The correct section is noted above and the directed edits were made to the paragraph identified by Resolution E-4987 on page 18 of the SOMAH PIP.

than April 16, 2019, which is seven (7) days after the submittal of this Advice Letter. As directed in OP 2 of Resolution E-4987, any new Protests should be limited to the substance of the Attachments or additional information.8 Protests should be mailed to:

> **CPUC Energy Division** Attention: Tariff Unit 505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco, CA 94102

Email: EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov

Copies of the protest should also be sent to the attention of the Director, Energy Division, Room 4004, at the address shown above.

A copy of the protest should also be sent via e-mail and U.S. mail to CSE at the address shown below on the same date it is mailed or delivered to the Commission:

> Sephra Ninow Associate Director, Regulatory Affairs Center for Sustainable Energy® 3980 Sherman St., Suite 170 San Diego, CA 92110

E-mail: sephra.ninow@energycenter.org

There are no restrictions as to who may submit a protest, but the protest shall set forth specifically the grounds upon which it is based and shall be submitted expeditiously.

EFFECTIVE DATE

CSE requests that this Advice Letter become effective on regular notice, May 9, 2019, which is 30 calendar days after the date of submittal.

NOTICE

CSE is providing a copy of this Advice Letter to service list R.14-07-002.

Sephra A. Ninow, J.D.

Associate Director, Regulatory Affairs

Sephra A. Minou

Center for Sustainable Energy®

cc: Service List R.14-07-002, A.16-07-015 (consolidated)

Attachments: Attachment A – Revised SOMAH Program Implementation Plan (Redlined)

Attachment B – Revised SOMAH Program Implementation Plan (Clean)

⁷ Resolution E-4987 at 35.

⁸ *Id*.

Attachment A

Revised Proposed SOMAH Program Implementation Plan

October April 91, 20198



Solar on Multifamily
Affordable Housing

Table of Contents

I.		In [°]	troduction	1
II.		Αŗ	oplication Procedures	2
	A.		Application Database	3
	В.		Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Program Projects	3
	C.		Ensuring Tenant Benefit	4
Ш		Re	equirements for Documentation of Property Eligibility	4
	A.		Property Eligibility and Documentation Table	4
	В.		SOMAH Required Multifamily Low-Income Housing Eligibility Documentation	5
		1.	Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Eligibility	5
		2.	Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation	6
		3.	Additional Cover Sheet Specifications	6
		4.	VNEM Allocation Worksheet	7
		5.	Certificate of Occupancy	7
		6.	Interconnection Authorization Letter	7
	C.		Ineligible Multifamily Low-Income Housing Properties	7
IV		Pr	ogram Budget	7
	A.		Collections to Date	8
	В.		Methodology for Budgeting the SOMAH Program Incentives and Administrative Budget	8
	C.		Administrative Budget	9
	D.		Incentive Budget	11
		1.	Incentive Rates	11
		2.	Process to Track Incentives for Each IOU	12
		3.	Safeguards to Ensure Incentives Paid for Projects Do Not Exceed Funding	12
		4.	Invoicing Process and Frequency	12
٧.		Jo	b Training Requirements	13
	A.		SOMAH Job Training Requirements	13
	В.		SOMAH Job Training Resources and Local Hiring Initiatives	14
		1.	Statewide Directory of Job Training Organizations (JTOs)	14
		2.	SOMAH Job Training Portal	14
		3.	Local Hiring Initiatives	15
		4.	Opportunities for Tenants	15
	C.		SOMAH Required Documentation for Job Training	15

	1.	Submit a Completed Job Trainee Intake Form	16
	2.	Submit a Completed Job Training Affidavit	16
D		Focus on Data Collection, Tracking of Trainees, and Reporting	16
VI.	Tł	nird-Party Ownership Requirements	17
Α		Certification of System Performance	17
В		Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Benefit	17
C.		Performance Monitoring and Reporting Service Contract	18
VII.	Er	nergy Efficiency Requirements	18
Α		Pathway 1: Energy Efficiency Walk Through Audit	18
В		Pathway 2: Recent or Active Participation in an Energy Efficiency Program	18
C.		Energy Efficiency Documentation Required in Application	19
VIII.	D	ata Collection and Reporting Requirements	19
Α		Data Collection and Reporting Requirements (Including Report Format)	19
В		Semi-Annual Expense Report (SAER)	20
C.		Identification of Incentives Awarded to Each Eligibility Grouping	20
IX.	Sι	upplier Diversity Rules	21
Χ.	In	terim Targets for Capacity Goals	21
XI.	St	andardized Bidding Form and Online Tool	24
XII.	Co	pordination with Investor Owned Utilities	25
Α		Data Collection	25
В		Invoicing for Incentives:	25
XIII.	M	arketing, Education & Outreach	25
Α		Submittal of Annual ME&O Plans	25
В		Target Audiences	26
C.		Marketing Tactics	26
	1.	Program Website	26
	2.	Workshops and Conferences	26
	3.	Network-based Marketing	26
	4.	Coordination with Existing Services	26
	5.	Community-based Outreach and Education	26
	6.	Media	27
D		Progress Assessments	27
Ε.		Direct Outreach to Affordable Housing Providers	27

F. Tenant Education	27
XIV. Conflict of Interest Policy for SOMAH PA Team Members	28
A. Background	28
B. Conflict of Interest Policy	28
1. Physical Separation	29
2. Electronic Separation	29
3. Identity Separation	29
C. Public Resources	29

I. Introduction

Assembly Bill (AB) 693 (Stats. 2015, ch. 582) directed the California Public Utilities Commission (Commission) to institute a new program intended to make qualifying solar energy systems more accessible to low-income and disadvantaged communities (DACs). The goal of this new program is to install solar energy systems that have a generating capacity equivalent to at least 300 megawatts (MW) on qualified multifamily affordable housing properties through December 31, 2030. This program is funded with up to \$100,000,000 annually from Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E), Southern California Edison Company (SCE), Liberty Utilities Company (Liberty), and PacifiCorp's (collectively the investor-owned utilities or IOUs) share of greenhouse gas (GHG) allowance auction proceeds.

In accordance with AB 693, the Commission issued Decision D.17-12-022 (Decision) on December 14, 2017, creating the Solar On Multifamily Affordable Housing (SOMAH) program.² The Decision established SOMAH program goals, eligibility requirements, program administration and program funding, and provided guidance for the selection of a statewide Program Administrator (PA) that would oversee the newly created SOMAH program. The Commission directed its Energy Division (ED) to select the PA through a Request for Proposal (RFP) process managed by SCE.

The SOMAH RFP was released on February 13, 2018, and was subsequently awarded to the SOMAH Nonprofit Administrative Partnership (SOMAH PA) - a unique partnership team of mission-aligned nonprofit organizations that sought the role of Program Administrator for the SOMAH program.³ This nonprofit program administration team will ensure the SOMAH program creates the most value possible for the tenants and communities it was designed to serve, with a mission-led and values-based approach.

The Commission directed the designated PA to submit a Tier 3 implementation Advice Letter for Commission consideration no later than August 30, 2018.⁴ The Commission requires the SOMAH Program Implementation Proposal (PIP) to include sections on at least the following subjects:

- Application procedures;
- 2. Requirements for documentation of building, property, and project eligibility;

¹ Public Utilities Code Section 2870(f)(1).

² R.14-07-002, D.17-12-022, Decision Adopting Implementation Framework for Assembly Bill 693 and Creating the Solar On Multifamily Affordable Housing Program, December 14, 2017.

³ The SOMAH PA team is comprised of the Association for Energy Affordability (AEA), Center for Sustainable Energy® (CSE), and GRID Alternatives (GRID), as well as its subcontractors, including the California Housing Partnership Corporation (CHPC), Rising Sun Energy Center and rotating community-based organizations.

⁴ D.17-12-022 at 24.

- 3. A program budget that includes line items for incentives and administrative activities, including but not limited to marketing, education, and outreach (ME&O);
- Specific job training requirements consistent with those defined in the Decision;
- 5. Specific rules for implementing the third-party ownership requirements defined in the Decision:
- 6. Specific energy efficiency requirements consistent with those adopted in the Decision;
- 7. Data collection and reporting requirements, including report formats;
- 8. Supplier Diversity Rules; and
- 9. Interim targets for capacity goals, consistent with the AB 693 requirement for 300 MW before 2030.⁵

In addition to the specific subjects requested by the Commission, this PIP also explains how the SOMAH PA will coordinate with the IOUs, execute its ME&O obligations, communicate effectively between stakeholders, and create a competitive bidding process for SOMAH projects. Some programmatic details, such as VNEM rates and design can be located in the respective IOU tariff submittals.

The SOMAH PA will validate application and project eligibility, validate and perform quality control checks on applications, validate installations, validate tenant benefits, and conduct a budget true-up process. The SOMAH PA will also ensure that program website tenant engagement toolkit will be updated on a timely basis. The utilities, in coordination with the SOMAH PA, will develop VNEM allocation sheets and digital forms, process ESA Program referrals from the SOMAH Program and will handle customer billing inquiry calls.

The SOMAH PA would like to thank the State Legislature, Governor, and Commission for this monumental opportunity and looks forward to implementing the nation's largest solar energy program specifically tailored to providing renewable energy benefits to tenants of multifamily affordable housing.

Application Procedures II.

The SOMAH program application process allows for the reservation of incentive funds for property owners or operators who have committed to the purchase and installation of a solar energy system at eligible project sites. Prospective SOMAH participants can apply under two different tracks depending on the level of technical assistance they may require.⁶ SOMAH program reservations will be available on a first-come, first-served basis and last for the duration of the reservation period. This process will ensure incentives are available when the "Incentive Claim" is made. In the event that application submissions exceed the available funds in a participating utility territory, a waitlist will be initiated.

⁵ *Id.* at 55-56.

⁶ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4, Application Process for SOMAH Projects.

A. Application Database

All applications will be submitted through an online application tool. The online application tool will be used to:

- 1. Collect application data and documentation;
- 2. Review application data and documentation;
- 3. Manage communications between the SOMAH PA and the Applicant;
- 4. Manage application deadlines;
- 5. Manage incentive budgets by IOU service area.

The online application tool will provide administrators, applicants, and project stakeholders with a comprehensive, streamlined rebate application process that aims to minimize errors and mistakes.⁷

B. Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Program Projects

The SOMAH PA will have a dedicated team of application processors. Each processor will be trained in SOMAH application requirements, policies and processes through hands-on database training. Additionally, each processor will be trained in, and have access to, standard operating procedure manuals, flow charts and the SOMAH program handbook. This will result in efficient processing of applications while providing maximum oversight for quality control. All project application inquiries will be managed through an online database and monitored by the SOMAH PA so that applications are responded to within one business day.

Additionally, a set percentage of applications processed will be sent through a quality control (QC) review to ensure entries to the database are accurate and reflect a high level of accuracy. Any discrepancies in the data or errors regarding applicant eligibility will be corrected and the responsible party notified. Parties found to make errors will be monitored for quality at an increased rate until their accuracy returns to acceptable levels. In addition to random QC reviews, the SOMAH PA will track performance over time, including reporting the amount of time required to review applications. This allows the SOMAH PA to address bottlenecks, increase efficiency, and identify opportunities to improve.

To ensure the quality and completeness of the work performed by participating contractors, the SOMAH PA will perform SOMAH installation inspections. The SOMAH inspection will occur after the Incentive Claim has been submitted and will verify that: 1) the equipment listed on the SOMAH application matches the system installed equipment; 2) the orientation and shading of the equipment matches the SOMAH application; and 3) the system is operational. As part of its quality assurance and control efforts, the SOMAH PA will also solicit input from contractors via public workshops to ensure the most up to date and relevant jobsite safety protocols are incorporated into a model worksite safety program for SOMAH installations.

⁷ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4, Application Process for SOMAH Projects, for a more detailed overview of the SOMAH incentive application process.

C. Ensuring Tenant Benefit

The Decision requires at least 51% of incentivized system benefits flow to tenants. In order to ensure tenants of participating SOMAH installations receive the full economic benefits allocated to them via Virtual Net Energy Metering (VNEM), the SOMAH PA has implemented a process to verify VNEM allocations between tenants and common areas are correctly apportioned. The SOMAH PA will also ensure that building owners cannot recapture tenant savings via rent increases, utility allowance adjustments, or other recapture mechanisms. This verification process utilizes two distinct mechanisms to safe-guard tenant economic benefits:

- 1) The SOMAH PA will require Applicants to submit a VNEM Allocation Worksheet demonstrating at least 51% of the electricity generated by the system will be used to offset the tenant's usage for the life of the system or 20 years, whichever is less. This allocation sheet will be required at the Reservation Request step, and if changes are made to the allocations, the VNEM allocation worksheet will require updating at the Proof of Project Milestone and Incentive Claim steps. This worksheet will be reviewed to verify that the allocation is consistent with the incentive application, final incentive amount, and the interconnection application submitted to the IOU. How bill credits are applied are addressed in the respective tariffs of the IOUs.
- 2) The SOMAH PA will require Applicants to submit a signed affidavit certifying under penalty of perjury that the Host Customer will not include system benefits in utility allowance calculations, thus preventing the recapture of tenant economic benefits through the raising or rent or other means.¹⁰

III. Requirements for Documentation of Property Eligibility

A. Property Eligibility and Documentation Table

The following table organizes the documentation required to validate SOMAH's eligibility requirements:

Property Eligibility Requirements	Required Documentation
Property must be low-income residential	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code
housing as defined in PUC Section 2852,	Section 2852 eligibility
pursuant to terms of financing or financial	 Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code
assistance, and:	Section 2852 Documentation, which
(a) located in a disadvantaged community	includes DAC and HCD information.
as defined by the California	

⁸ D.17-12-022 at 17, 66.

⁹ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4 for more information regarding the SOMAH application step process.

¹⁰ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Appendix E., Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Economic Benefit.

Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) pursuant to Health and Safety Code (HSC) Section 39711; or, (b) at least 80% of property residents must have incomes at or below 60% of the Area Median Income (AMI) as determined by the Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD).	
Property must have at least five residential housing units.	 Virtual Net-Energy Metering (VNEM) Allocation Form
Property must be subject to either a deed restriction or regulatory agreement between the property owner and a financing agency under which the property is classified as affordable housing.	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 eligibility Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation
There must be 10 years remaining on the term of the property's affordability restrictions.	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 eligibility Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation
Rents for low-income tenants maintained within required limits per rent restrictions.	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 eligibility Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation
Units must be separately metered and eligible for a virtual net-energy metering tariff.	VNEM Allocation Form
Only existing buildings are eligible.	 Certificate of Occupancy (if required) Interconnection authorization letter (if required)
Properties with Community Choice Aggregators (CCA) may participate if the serving CCA has a VNEM tariff.	No documentation needed

B. SOMAH Required Multifamily Low-Income Housing Eligibility Documentation

To verify property eligibility, the Applicant will be required to submit the following documentation:

1. Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Eligibility

Applicant must provide a copy of the deed-restriction, regulatory agreement, or covenant that restricts the property to low-income residential housing as defined in

PUC Section 2852 and pursuant to terms of financing or financial assistance by one or more of the following:

- Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC);
- Tax-exempt mortgage revenue bonds;
- General obligation bonds;
- Local, state, or federal loans or grants.

2. Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation

Applicants are required to submit a cover sheet¹¹ summarizing key details from the deed restriction or regulatory agreement, such as the:

- Property owner name;
- Public entity/non-profit agency name;
- Expiration date of low income documentation proving that the property has at least 10 years of affordability remaining at time of SOMAH application.

3. Additional Cover Sheet Specifications

Applicants will also be required to specify on the Cover Sheet whether:

- a) 80% of property residents must have incomes at or below 60% of the Area Median Income (AMI) as determined by the Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD); or,
- b) is located in a disadvantaged community as defined by the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) pursuant to Health and Safety Code (HSC) Section 50025.5. For the SOMAH program, this is defined as DACs that score in the top 25% of census tracts statewide in the CalEnviroScreen 3.0. Also included are 22 census tracts in the highest 5% of the CalEnviroScreen's Pollution Burden.

The SOMAH PA will then verify information provided on the Cover Sheet by inspecting the Applicant's documentation and/or verifying the project exists in an eligible DAC census tract.

Properties with less than 10 years remaining on the affordability requirement term must extend the affordability requirements for a total of 10 years. Those properties that are willing to extend the affordability requirements may access SOMAH preapplication technical assistance. Proof of completed extension of affordability restrictions from a state or local agency must be provided with the Reservation Request Package submission.

¹¹ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, *Appendix D*; *Cover Sheet for Multifamily Low-Income Housing Documentation*.

4. VNEM Allocation Worksheet

The SOMAH PA will utilize the VNEM Allocation Worksheet to verify the property has at least five units and is allocating at least 51% of the electricity generated by the system for tenant usage.

5. Certificate of Occupancy

Only existing buildings are eligible for SOMAH program incentives. An existing building is defined by having a certificate of occupancy prior to or at application submittal. Owners may submit a pre-application request for technical assistance for an otherwise eligible property to ensure a property will be solar ready before securing a certificate of occupancy for an existing building. For SOMAH-eligibility, a property must apply for the solar permit from the authority having jurisdiction after the effective date of the certificate of occupancy to be considered an existing building.

6. Interconnection Authorization Letter

Properties that received a final interconnection authorization letter less than 12 months prior to submitting the Reservation Request Package must may include a copy of this letter at the request of the SOMAH PA.

C. <u>Ineligible Multifamily Low-Income Housing Properties</u>

The following are **not** eligible for incentives under the SOMAH Program:

- Properties that have received a final interconnection authorization letter dated more than 12 months prior to submitting a SOMAH Reservation Request Package;
- Properties that are owned by publicly-owned or investor-owned gas or electricity distribution utilities, or any electrical corporation (ref. PUC Section 218) that generates or purchases electricity or natural gas for wholesale or retail sales;
- Properties with new construction systems are not eligible for the SOMAH Program. A
 new construction system is a solar system that is installed prior to receipt of the
 certificate of occupancy for the Host Customer Site;
- Master-metered properties.

IV. Program Budget

The SOMAH Program provides financial incentives for the installation of at least 300 MW of solar energy photovoltaic systems on multifamily affordable housing properties that meet the definition of low-income residential housing through the year 2030. In accordance with AB 693,

as amended by Senate Bill (SB) 92 (Stats. 2017, ch. 26), the SOMAH Program will be funded with \$100,000,000 or 66.67 percent of available funds, whichever is less, from the revenues described in subdivision (c) of PUC Section 748.5 beginning July 1, 2016, and ending, at the earliest, by June 30, 2020.

The award of monetary incentives for qualifying solar energy systems that are installed on qualified multifamily affordable housing properties is authorized by the Commission through December 31, 2030. Per PUC Section 2870(c), "the Commission shall continue authorizing the allocation of funds through June 30, 2026, if the Commission determines that revenues are available after 2020 and that there is adequate interest and participation in the program." Unlike the Multifamily Affordable Solar Housing (MASH) program, which was funded solely by the three larger electric utilities, 12 the SOMAH draws its funding from the GHG allowance auction proceeds of five IOUs. 13

90% of the overall SOMAH budget of approximately \$100,000,000 is intended for distribution as incentives for eligible projects. The administration budget for SOMAH is capped annually at \$10,000,000 or 10% of annual available funds, whichever is less.

A. Collections to Date

The SOMAH program is funded by contributions from the sale of Greenhouse Gas Reduction Funds (GGRF) from the IOUs, plus the anticipated collections through 2018, totaling approximately \$118,698,866. The SOMAH PA calculated the approximate percentage share of contributions for 2018 from each participating IOU as follows: PG&E at 43.09%, SCE at 45.36%, SDG&E at 10.16%, PacifiCorp at 0.34% and Liberty Utility at 0.34%.

B. <u>Methodology for Budgeting the SOMAH Program Incentives and Administrative</u> <u>Budget</u>

Utilizing the sale of GHG allowances allocated to California's IOUs through California's Cap-and-Trade program may cause SOMAH incentive and administration budgets to fluctuate. The table below provides what portion of funds participating IOUs will likely contribute when the maximum collections of \$100M per year are obtained for the SOMAH program.

IOU	% of Total Proceeds	2018 Share of \$100M/annual allocations
PG&E	43.09%	\$43,090,000
SCE	45.36%	\$45,360,000

¹² PG&E, SDG&E, and SCE.

_

¹³ The five IOUs are: PG&E, SDG&E, SCE, PacifiCorp, and Liberty.

SDG&E	10.16%	\$10,160,000
PacifiCorp	1.05%	\$1,050,000
Liberty	0.34%	\$340,000
Total	100%	\$100,000,000

Available incentive amounts will be capped by the funding available in each IOU service area. Projects may only receive incentives from the IOU service area in which the project is located. When the SOMAH Program is launched and begins accepting reservations, projects will be queued on a first-come, first-serve basis and will receive a reservation only if funding is available. Five individual reservation queues and up to five waitlist queues will exist representing each IOU service area. If funding becomes unavailable due to subscription levels or lower than anticipated Cap-and-Trade funding, a waitlist will be created until more funding becomes available. Upon the receipt of further funding, projects will be moved off the waitlist in the order they were received.

To provide transparency into available funding and overall program budgets, the SOMAH PA will publish incentive budgets for each IOU service area based on quarterly GHG auction proceeds reported to CaliforniaDGStats.ca.gov (CalDGStats). The SOMAH PA will also provide tables that include budget information on total incentives that remain available, are held in reservation, or were paid.

The SOMAH administration budget is also drawn from GHG allowances collected through California's Cap-and-Trade program and may therefore be subject to fluctuations in funding. To account for this possibility, the SOMAH PA has incorporated a budget fluctuation model to mitigate uncertainty. The fluctuation model works by ramping program activities up or down depending on the annual available administration funds. For example, if the program budget in a year is only half the anticipated collection, the SOMAH PA will reduce program scope by 50% except for the critical components needed to administer the program. The SOMAH PA will also work directly with ED to determine which program activities should be pared down first. In years where the administration is fully funded, the SOMAH PA will plan for fully scoped tasks as described in this document. Additionally, the SOMAH PA and SCE will incorporate any scope changes made due to underfunding into the Scope of Work (SOW) as necessary.

C. Administrative Budget

SCE will compensate the SOMAH PA for its estimated administrative costs on a quarterly basis. The SOMAH PA will submit to the ED and SCE an invoice for the PA's estimated administrative expenses 30 days before the start of the next quarter, which will be trued-up against the previous quarter's actual expenses. The estimated program administration expenses will include the basis for requesting an advance payment and will provide reasonably detailed

calculations for the forecasted expenditures and a quarterly work schedule. The SOMAH decision further authorizes the CPUC to reimburse the ED up to \$2,000,000 annually from the participating utilities' GHG proceeds for activities related to implementation and oversight of the SOMAH Program.¹⁴

The following table describes the different categories that comprise the SOMAH Administrative Budget:

Administrative Budget Category	Activity Details
General SOMAH Program Administration	SOMAH Working Group, Regulatory Compliance, Contract Maintenance, Tracking Expenses, Database Management, Program Reporting, Application Processing, On-site Field Verifications, Advisory Counsel, Program Development.
SOMAH Marketing, Education and Outreach	Brand Development, Website Development, Community Based Organization Outreach, General Marketing Efforts, Conferences, Property and Tenant Engagement, Contractor Engagement.
SOMAH Workforce Development	Resource and Content Creation related to Job Training Materials and Outreach, Support Services, Collaboration with Job Training Organizations.
SOMAH Technical Assistance	General Billing Education, Phone Support, System Performance Monitoring Support, Fault Detection, Utility Bill Monitoring, Surveying, Financial Education, PV Installation Education.
SOMAH CPUC/ED Expenses	Energy Division's preparation of an annual report to the State Legislature, activities related to the competitive bidding processes, and all evaluation, measurement, and verification activities. ¹⁵

¹⁴ D.17-12-022 at 57

¹⁵ *Id*. at 57

IOU Expenses*	Potential internal utility administrative activities
	directly attributable to SOMAH and associated
	with compliance with the program.

*The SOMAH PA is also currently collaborating with each IOU to determine potential internal utility administrative activities directly attributable to SOMAH that may be required for IOU compliance with the SOMAH program, such as data collection and transfer. The SOMAH PA hopes for continued collaboration with the IOUs and ED to determine the most appropriate compensation to IOUs for these potential administrative activities.

D. Incentive Budget

1. Incentive Rates

The incentive structure is based on an upfront capacity (kW) based incentive. SOMAH's first year incentive rates are detailed below:

TAX CREDITS		\$ per AC Watt Incentive	
ІТС	LIHTC	Tenant	Common
No	No	\$3.20	\$1.10
Yes	No	\$2.25	\$0.80
No	Yes	\$2.25	\$0.80
Yes	Yes	\$1.60	\$0.60

To reflect changes in actual market costs, SOMAH incentive levels will be subject to predetermined reductions on an annual basis. Incentive levels, on an annual basis, will decrease either by 5%, or by the annual percent decline in residential solar costs as reflected by NREL reports, whichever is less. ¹⁶ Projects will receive the incentive level available at the time a reservation is confirmed. The Commission may modify this incentive reduction process as the program progresses based on information obtained about market costs, or through the SOMAH program evaluations. A modification to this incentive reduction process will be detailed through notice to stakeholders and program participants.

Unlike previous incentive programs where the Federal Investment Tax Credit (ITC) along with the other financial benefiting incentives such as the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) were not factored into the incentive amount, incentives paid by the SOMAH Program will be reserved based on the funding sources leveraged for the project. As highlighted in Table 3, projects will be eligible for differential

¹⁶ D.17-12-022, page 43.

incentives based on if they are also leveraging the ITC and/or LIHTC. Projects will also be required to delineate the percent of load that will be tenant-serving and the percent of load that will be offsetting common area loads. Any oversight made by the Applicant or Host Customer on documenting the ITC, LIHTC, additional program incentives, and/or the tenant load/common area load split may result in consequences including immediate disqualification from participating in SOMAH, as further detailed in the SOMAH Program Handbook.

2. Process to Track Incentives for Each IOU

The SOMAH PA will create a process whereby eligible projects will be allowed to submit for incentive funding within each IOU service area. CalDGStats will host an incentive tracker that will track budget information on total incentives available, reserved, and paid in each IOU service area.

3. Safeguards to Ensure Incentives Paid for Projects Do Not Exceed Funding

The SOMAH PA will track incentives reserved and paid in each IOU service territory by assigning each project a unique identifier or application number that will correspond to the utility territory in which it resides. The nomenclature to be used is as follows:

- Pacific Gas & Electric PGE-SOMAH-XXXXX
- Southern California Edison SCE-SOMAH-XXXXX
- San Diego Gas & Electric SDGE-SOMAH-XXXXX
- PacifiCorp PAC- SOMAH-XXXXX
- Liberties Utilities LIB-SOMAH-XXXXX

To provide budget transparency, the incentive budgets for each IOU service area will be visible on the CalDGStats website and updated no less than weekly.

4. Invoicing Process and Frequency

Making incentive payments to completed projects is one of the SOMAH program's most important responsibilities, as incentives may cover the up to 100% of the tenant-serving load portion of a project. The SOMAH PA's plan for invoice process and frequency is to:

- Enter into individual agreements with each participating IOU for the charge and distribution of incentive payments;
- Invoice individual IOUs for incentive payment for completed projects, as determined by the IOU payment agreements;
- Pay individual incentives in accordance with funding received by IOUs.

V. Job Training Requirements

The Decision requires the SOMAH PA to maintain an active role in developing program components that promote economic development in DACs through job training and local hiring initiatives.¹⁷ The Commission also directed the SOMAH PA to develop strategies to encourage local hiring by contractors participating in the program.¹⁸ The SOMAH PA anticipates that a dedicated focus on local hiring initiatives and development of effective recruiting, training and hiring tools will result in a successful program. These strategies can create valuable short-term paid training opportunities on SOMAH projects, as well as potentially many long-term, well-paying jobs for participants.

A. SOMAH Job Training Requirements

The Commission referenced the MASH program as providing a reasonable framework for job training requirements but requested emphasis on the quality of training for each job training participant rather than maximizing the number of participants trained. ¹⁹ Accordingly, the SOMAH PA developed the following requirements for hours and number of job trainees for SOMAH based on system size:

System Size (CEC-AC)	Required Number of Job Trainees
0kW- < 50kW	1 trainee and no less than 40 hours of employment per trainee
50kW- < 100kW	2 trainees and no less than 40 hours of employment per trainee
100kW and greater	2 trainees and no less than 80 of employment per trainee

The type of work eligible for SOMAH's job trainees emulates the North American Board of Certified Energy Practitioners (NABCEP) categories for job functions. NABCEP categories were chosen because they are an industry standard and should result in trainees receiving relevant hands-on training that can result in workforce recruitment. The SOMAH PA has also set minimum job trainee wages for hours spent working on SOMAH projects, as further described in the SOMAH Program Handbook.²⁰

¹⁷ D.17-12-022 at 25-26.

¹⁸ *Id*.

¹⁹ *Id.* at 26.

²⁰ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 2, Job Training Requirements.

B. SOMAH Job Training Resources and Local Hiring Initiatives

The SOMAH PA will offer a robust platform and suite of resources to assist contractors in finding eligible job trainees for projects:

1. Statewide Directory of Job Training Organizations (JTOs)

The SOMAH PA will develop and regularly update a statewide Job Training Organizations (JTOs) Directory. This resource will be available to SOMAH Contractors, property owners, the ED and other stakeholders. SOMAH Contractors can use the directory to locate local JTOs that assist in recruiting trainees interested in solar careers, as well as provide skills training and job readiness training to complement experience gained on solar installation job sites and other solar technology.

The SOMAH PA will conduct a comprehensive statewide marketing and outreach campaign coinciding with the program launch, aimed at reaching relevant CA job training and work preparedness programs, including: community colleges, universities, community job training programs, pre-apprenticeship programs and others. The SOMAH PA will educate JTOs on SOMAH job training opportunities and assist the JTOs in listing their appropriate contact information for the statewide directory.

2. SOMAH Job Training Portal

The SOMAH PA will develop the SOMAH Job Training Portal, a central online hub where contractors can manage each SOMAH project's job training requirement. Prospective Trainees will also be able to connect with job training opportunities. The portal will include a "Resume Bank" where contractors can search for eligible trainees, as well as a "Job Board" to post and manage open SOMAH trainee positions and other work opportunities available to the Contractor. All Contractors will have access to the Resume Bank of eligible trainees, as well as the Job Training Organization Directory.

The SOMAH PA will ensure that individuals who post their resume to the Resume Bank also have access to information about companies that are hiring, services such as resume-building and interviewing workshops, and referrals to other programs (including the JTO Directory).

Contained within the Training Portal will be the SOMAH Job Board, where contractors will be required to post SOMAH related jobs at least 30 days before installation. The SOMAH PA will provide a customizable template for the contractor that includes basic information around qualifications and experience desired, pay rate, estimated dates, hours and job location, etc. Contractors must ensure their insurance covers the trainee while performing job duties on a SOMAH project. The

SOMAH PA will be available to assist contractors with the Training Portal and connecting contractors with job applicants but will not perform the hiring functions. It remains the responsibility of the contractor to interview, hire, onboard, train and supervise trainees. Contractors who report hiring SOMAH trainees will additionally be surveyed at three, six, and nine months after the hire date. Contractors are required to respond to these surveys for a minimum of one year.

3. Local Hiring Initiatives

Due to the Commission's endorsement of local hiring practices,²¹ the SOMAH PA developed strategies to facilitate local hiring in the SOMAH Program. The SOMAH PA will conduct outreach to job training organizations statewide, specifically those that work with disadvantaged workers to increase the pool of local and disadvantaged trainees available for contractors in the Resume Bank. Any standardized bidding form used for the SOMAH program will also include space for contractors to describe their local hiring plans or strategies to include workers from disadvantaged communities in the project.

The Resume Bank/Job Board provides the additional benefit of assisting the SOMAH PA with gathering critical data regarding job retention. The SOMAH PA anticipates the Resume Bank/Job Board will encourage employee and contractor engagement, ensure resumes and job postings remain updated, and will also report back to administrators with employment status updates and hiring reports. In total, these hiring initiatives should increase the community co-benefits from SOMAH projects and improve the potential for valuable data collection as encouraged by the Commission and explained in Section 2 of the SOMAH Program Handbook.²²

4. Opportunities for Tenants

While the SOMAH program begins to deploy, the SOMAH PA will develop pathways to offer solar job training opportunities to residents of participating SOMAH properties. Examples of pathways include: 1) standardized marketing materials that property owners and contractors can display on site, 2) hosting solar installation trainings in or near the properties, and 3) informing tenants about the upcoming solar project and opportunities for solar job training and possible participation as a paid worker. Including tenants in SOMAH's job training initiatives serves the double-purpose of encouraging local hiring and possibly including historically disadvantaged workers.

C. SOMAH Required Documentation for Job Training

The Contractor is required to provide the following documentation for the SOMAH job training opportunity:

²¹ D.17-12-022 at 25-26.

²² D.17-12-022 at 25.

1. Submit a Completed Job Trainee Intake Form

The Job Trainee Intake Form on the SOMAH Job Portal will be used by the trainee to create a profile. This profile will gather information on the trainee's background and employment goals, including: past employment experience, goals and objectives for longer-term employment in the industry, and optional demographic information. While the contractor is responsible for ensuring that the Job Trainee Intake Form is submitted, the actual completion of the form is to be done electronically by the trainee to ensure their privacy. The SOMAH PA will conduct outreach to the trainees, survey them on their SOMAH experience as a trainee, and offer various services regarding resume development and further job placement.

2. Submit a Completed Job Training Affidavit

The Job Training Affidavit certifies the job training opportunity occurred, met or exceeded the program requirements, and will provide useful information for understanding the success of SOMAH's job training requirements. The Affidavit identifies the names of the eligible job training program and job trainee(s) used for each SOMAH installation, trainee contact information, types of job tasks completed, and hours worked and wages. Both the contractor and SOMAH job trainee(s) must complete and sign this affidavit after the trainee's time on the installation project is completed. The SOMAH PA may spot check these affidavits for accuracy and verification that the opportunity was provided to the trainee.

Both the Intake form and the Affidavit must be completed as a precursor to receiving a SOMAH incentive payment.

D. Focus on Data Collection, Tracking of Trainees, and Reporting

The SOMAH PA will collect and publish comprehensive data regarding SOMAH job training opportunities, including job performance and retention metrics, as further detailed in the Public Reporting on Job Training Data section of the Program Handbook. This will include basic information around the number of trainees, hours, and types of work, as well as more specialized information regarding wages, benefits, length of employment terms, demographic information (optional for trainees to include on the Job Trainee Intake form), etc.

In addition, the SOMAH PA aims to track trainees on their progress in obtaining long-term employment, as well as survey both the trainees and contractors on their experience with SOMAH's job training requirement. Information on trainees who are considered local hires, or disadvantaged workers, will also be collected, tracked, and made public. Information about the SOMAH program's job training outcomes and local hiring initiatives will be published in aggregate on CalDGStats, as well as included in standard SOMAH reporting to the Commission and Legislature. No personally-identifiable information will be published. The SOMAH PA

anticipates the Commission will find this information useful in its 2020 program evaluation of the SOMAH program.

In summary, the SOMAH PA will provide and build upon baseline tools to help the SOMAH contractors fulfill the SOMAH Job Training Requirement. These strategies will also encourage local hiring and connect job training organizations and job-seekers with SOMAH solar workforce opportunities, thereby furthering the community co-benefits from the SOMAH program.

VI. <u>Third-Party Ownership Requirements</u>

When a SOMAH incentivized system is owned by a third-party (typically a power purchase or leasing agreement), the SOMAH PA will require additional documentation to ensure that the economic benefits of solar PV systems accrue to tenants and that no additional costs are passed on to tenants.²³ The SOMAH PA will also require documentation to ensure third party systems perform in accordance with contractor guarantees.

A. Certification of System Performance

Third-party owned systems are required to provide evidence of operations, maintenance and monitoring for the full term of the third-party ownership agreement. Additionally, third-party owned systems must include performance guarantees ensuring the systems will produce a minimum of 90% of the expected annual production as calculated by the Expected Performance Based Buydown (EPBB) calculator for the duration of the agreement. Should a system's annual production fall below 90% of the expected annual production after a .05% annual degradation factor has been applied, the third-party owner is required to compensate the Host Customer for the lost production valued at the applicable Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) rate for the production year (adjusted for any PPA rate escalators), multiplied by the production shortfall for the annual period.

To ensure the requirements above are met, applicants will be required to submit a Certification of Compliance with SOMAH Performance Requirements for Third-Party Owned Systems²⁴ in a worksheet containing the Host Customer's signature with the Proof of Project Milestone submission.

B. Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Benefit

The Tenant Benefits Affidavit must be filled out and submitted with the Reservation Request to ensure that additional costs for a third-party system will not be passed on to the tenants.²⁵

²³ See D.17-12-022 at 23.

²⁴ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Appendix H., Certification of Compliance with SOMAH Performance Requirements for Third-Party Owned Systems.

²⁵ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Appendix E., Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Economic Benefit.

C. Performance Monitoring and Reporting Service Contract

A Performance Monitoring and Reporting Service (PMRS), designed to keep track of a PV system's performance, is required for all projects, whether they are Host Customer owned or third-party owned. It is the responsibility of the System Owner to contract with a PMRS provider for a minimum of 20 years and ensure that 15-minute interval production data is provided to the SOMAH PA quarterly.

Third-party owned systems must contract with PMRS services for a term equal to the term of the third-party ownership agreement if different than 20 years.

VII. Energy Efficiency Requirements

All projects shall submit a Solar Sizing Workbook containing proof that an energy efficiency audit was conducted at the site. This Workbook will also be used to identify any cost-effective electricity load reduction opportunities at the property, net zero energy opportunities, and building energy use characteristics (including existing or planned EV charging), which will be maintained in the online database.

Participants can comply with the SOMAH energy efficiency requirement²⁶ through one of two pathways outlined below. Regardless of which pathway is pursued, the participant must submit a Solar Sizing Workbook within 60 days of filing a SOMAH Reservation Request. The SOMAH PA anticipates the energy efficiency audits will result in additional cost savings for eligible multifamily housing and should meaningfully pair with the benefits afforded by PV systems.

A. Pathway 1: Energy Efficiency Walk Through Audit

The participant is responsible for hiring a credentialed energy auditor, as defined in the SOMAH Program Handbook²⁷ to provide an energy efficiency audit. This energy audit report will be reviewed by the SOMAH PA to verify compliance with SOMAH audit requirements of the Program Handbook.

The SOMAH PA will conduct site verifications on a sampling of projects to verify accuracy of the energy audit report, and any non-compliance findings will be relayed to the property owner and the energy audit firm.

B. Pathway 2: Recent or Active Participation in an Energy Efficiency Program

Participants can also meet SOMAH's energy efficiency requirements with proof of recent²⁸ or active participation in an approved energy efficiency program, documentation of a recent California Tax Credit Allocation Committee (TCAC) rehabilitation, or documentation that the

²⁷ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 2, Energy-Efficiency Requirements.

²⁶ D.17-12-022 at 27.

²⁸ Defined as within the past three years from the initial SOMAH application submittal date.

property was retrofitted under a recent version of Title 24. A list of all currently approved programs will be maintained on CalSOMAH.org and SOMAH technical assistance can refer the property owner to potential applicable program(s) upon request.

C. Energy Efficiency Documentation Required in Application

The participant will be required to submit all energy efficiency documentation in accordance with the Program Handbook, depending on which Energy Efficiency Pathway is utilized for compliance. In all instances, the participant must also submit the Solar Sizing Workbook as described above.

VIII. Data Collection and Reporting Requirements

The SOMAH PA's overarching objectives for data collection and reporting are to ensure that robust data collection occurs in all program areas, and that the Commission, ED, IOUs, and members of the public receive timely and accurate reports on program progress. The SOMAH Program will continue to utilize the CalDGStats website as the single source for all data to be posted and displayed in formats that allows the viewer to easily decipher programmatic data and information. CalDGStats will also provide dynamic filters on each figure and graph, allowing users to break down a specific data set and examine it from different viewpoints while also being available to download in spreadsheet format in compliance with privacy laws and regulations.

A. <u>Data Collection and Reporting Requirements (Including Report Format)</u>

The SOMAH Program will collect information on several data points, including but not limited to the following:

- Number of applications received;
- Number of applications accepted;
- Incentives paid;
- Capacity and estimated production of PV systems;
- Total system cost in \$/kilowatt before subsidy;
- Progress of installations;
- Applications by geographic area;
- Average number of bids received per project (if applicable);
- The contractor used;
- Administrative expenditures;
- Number of households served
- Estimated aggregated tenant economic benefits;
- Number of unique job trainees;
- Total number of job trainee hours;
- Number of local contractors and subcontractors hired;
- Number of jobs generated;
- Number of local jobs generated;

- Number of participants that leverage SOMAH technical assistance services;
- Number of referrals to other energy programs;
- Number of participants that leverage other energy programs;
- Estimated carbon emissions reduced.

Most of the data points noted above will be inputted into CalDGStats and presented as a graph or table. However, other data collected through the program, namely administrative expenditures, will be collected via the SOMAH PA's internal billing process and reported via the Semi-Annual Expense Report (SAER).

B. Semi-Annual Expense Report (SAER)

The SAER will capture all internal program administration expenses via predetermined categories²⁹ that pertain to the SOMAH program funds that may be used for administrative expenses. The SAER will also be used to track proceeds from the sale of GHG allowances allocated to California's IOUs through California's Cap-and-Trade Program and balance program expenditures against them and alongside interim targets and capacity goals. In addition, the SAER will capture all internal SOMAH PA program administration, workforce development, technical assistance, marketing, education and outreach, Commission expenses, and IOU expenses. The SAER will be posted twice per year to the CalDGStats website.

C. <u>Identification of Incentives Awarded to Each Eligibility Grouping</u>

AB 693 provides two criteria for eligibility for participation in the SOMAH Program: 1) location of the property within a Disadvantaged Community (DAC), or 2) meeting the income criteria for at least 80% of tenant households.³⁰ While the Commission did not specifically structure the program to allocate incentives between DAC eligible properties and affordability-level eligible properties, it does require the SOMAH PA to track participation and identify the amount of incentives awarded to each grouping on an annual basis.³¹

In order to accurately determine the participation of either DAC eligible or income level eligible projects, the SOMAH PA will track project addresses through the SOMAH online application database and cross-reference them against CalEnviroScreen 3.0. This data will then be reported CalDGStats website. The SOMAH PA will make visible and update weekly the incentive budgets and remaining funds for each IOU service area with dedicated graphs and tables located on the CalDGStats website. Information will include available funding, incentives reserved, current incentive rates, as well as MWs reserved and installed, and MWs remaining to reach program goals.

_

²⁹ The SOMAH program contains four parent cost categories, which are: Program Administration, Marketing, Education and Outreach, Workforce Development and Technical Assistance.

³⁰ See D.17-12-022 at 13 ("80% of property residents must have incomes at or below 60% of the area median income as determined by the DHCD").

³¹ *Id*. at 39.

IX. Supplier Diversity Rules

California Public Utilities Code (PUC) Sections 8281-8286 direct the Commission to require utility providers, their regulated subsidiaries and affiliates to submit annual detailed and verifiable plans for increasing women-owned, minority-owned, disabled veteran-owned and LGBT-owned business enterprises (WMDVLGBTBE) procurement in all categories.

The SOMAH PA is not a utility provider, regulated subsidiary, nor affiliate of SCE and is therefore not required to file a diversity plan with the Commission per PUC Sections 8281-8286. Additionally, the SOMAH PA is comprised of nonprofit public benefit corporations that do not qualify for WMDVLGBTBE status under PUC Sections 8281-8286. The SOMAH PA subcontractors also do not qualify for WMDVLGBTBE status.³² Thus, the SOMAH PA team is not a SCE recognized diverse business enterprise and does not contribute to SCE's supplier diversity goals.

Although Supplier Diversity Rules are not applicable to this implementation plan, the SOMAH PA remains committed to the intent and purpose of PUC Sections 8281-8286. We note that the SOMAH PA's ME&O efforts are intended to target historically underrepresented groups and increase diverse participation in the SOMAH Program. Furthermore, SOMAH's emphasis on quality local job recruitment should result in increased access to employment opportunities for diverse groups across California. The SOMAH PA looks forward to assisting historically disadvantaged communities gain access to cleaner, more affordable energy.

X. <u>Interim Targets for Capacity Goals</u>

The SOMAH program is required to provide incentives for at least 300 MW of installed solar PV by December 31, 2030. To assess how many projects are required to meet the SOMAH program's target of 300 MW, the SOMAH PA relied on average system size in past MASH Program application data, then compared this data against different scenarios based on tenant versus common area solar PV production and allocation. The results were then applied over 10 years to determine what the typical incentives payouts are expected to be for each project. The SOMAH PA also considered the historical number of LIHTC projects financed in California to help understand what percent of all SOMAH projects are likely to receive lesser incentives. Additionally, the SOMAH PA assumed that every project would take the Federal Investment Tax Credit (ITC) until its expected expiration in 2021.

Based on MASH Program data, the average SOMAH project size will likely be approximately 78 kW of installed capacity. Incorporating this average project size into the SOMAH PA's modeling methodology reveals SOMAH will need to average 383 projects per year over the full ten years of the program to meet the 300 MW capacity goal by 2030. Since the SOMAH program allows

³² The SOMAH PA subcontractors are: Rising Sun Energy Center, Energy Solutions, Clean Power Research, Asian Pacific Environmental Network (APEN), Communities for a Better Environment (CBE), California Environmental Justice Alliance (CEJA), and the Environmental Health Coalition (EHC).

for variability in how a system might serve tenant and common load, the SOMAH PA developed two bookend scenarios that helped determine minimum and maximum incentive payments needed to meet annual capacity goals.

The two bookend scenarios consist of: 1) 100% tenant allocation to show the maximum amount of incentives needed to reach program goals; and 2) 51% tenant allocation, which is the minimum amount of incentives needed to reach program goals per the Decision. Based on prior participation levels in MASH, the SOMAH PA expects that most SOMAH projects will apportion 51% of their load to tenants. Under these two scenarios, the estimated maximum installed MW per year are as follows:

Estimated Maximum MWs Installed Per Year

Year	100% Tenant Load (MW)	51% Tenant Load (MW)
2019	37	54
2020	39	57
2021	41	60
2022	30	45
2023	32	47
2024	34	50
2025	36	52
2026	37	55
2027	39	58
2028	41	61
TOTAL	367	539

The SOMAH PA's modeling also indicates that the amount of budget needed to reach the 300MW goal is potentially less than the maximum \$90M annual incentive collection authorized by AB 693. Using the prior bookend scenarios, the annual incentives needed per year are as follows:

Estimated Incentive Funding Needed to Reach 300 MW Goal

Year	100% Tenant Load	51% Tenant Load
2019	\$65,550,000	\$44,896,500
2020	\$62,340,000	\$42,686,100
2021	\$59,130,000	\$40,475,700
2022	\$79,770,000	\$54,133,200
2023	\$75,960,000	\$51,602,100
2024	\$72,180,000	\$48,968,700
2025	\$68,400,000	\$46,467,600
2026	\$64,920,000	\$44,119,500
2027	\$61,710,000	\$41,909,100
2028	\$58,800,000	\$39,851,700
TOTAL	\$668,760,000	\$455,110,200

The tables above suggest that the SOMAH program has authorized sufficient funding to hit the minimum 300 MW target by 2030. However, additional factors may affect the SOMAH program's progress in reaching or surpassing the 300 MW goal.

It should be noted that the MASH Program in its most productive year (2011) installed 131 solar systems, and a total of 89 systems from 2015-2017 (according to CalDGStats). The SOMAH program will therefore need to incentivize three to five times more projects annually than MASH to reach the SOMAH program capacity target.

The SOMAH PA's ability to meet program targets assumes that the incentive levels authorized by the Commission will be sufficient to encourage high participation in the program, and that the SOMAH program's statutorily mandated tenant benefit requirements will have little to no impact on participation levels. Thus, the SOMAH PA will closely monitor program progress and advise on any potential barriers that could prevent obtaining the 300 MW goal.

XI. Standardized Bidding Form and Online Tool

From a consumer protection standpoint, it is important that participating property owners/operators receive project information in a clear, standardized format that helps ensure they understand the costs and benefits of the incentivized system. To this end, an objective of the SOMAH program is to provide property owners/operators with clear, comprehensive bids for projects with all costs and benefits apparent to ensure high-quality solar systems are installed in a cost-competitive manner. To ensure property owners/operators are receiving the best value possible, the SOMAH program will institute a process to obtain multiple project bids for customers that require additional Upfront Technical Assistance, pursuant to the Program Handbook.³³

The SOMAH PA will develop and implement the framework for property owners/operators who require Upfront Technical Assistance to receive multiple bids via an online bidding portal or a paper bidding form. The multiple bidding process will be standardized, with bids formatted to facilitate an "apples to apples" comparison using a neutral scoring methodology. The bid sheet template will include project cost information and auxiliary services and benefits as further described in the Program Handbook, 34 such as workforce development, local hiring and energy storage capabilities. Once contractors have attended and completed a Contractor Eligibility Workshop, 35 they will receive a copy of the bid sheet template and be added to the online bidding portal.

When an eligible property first engages with the SOMAH program, it will be determined if the Host Customer is ready to proceed with an eligible contractor (Track B), or would instead like to receive upfront technical assistance (Track A), which includes the requirement the property participate in the multiple bidding process. Projects proceeding with upfront technical assistance and the multiple bidding process will have an opportunity to obtain and review the bids, and select a contractor, before submitting a Reservation Request. At the Reservation Request Review, the SOMAH PA will reach out to the Host Customer directly to collect the three bids. If the Host Customer received the bids in the eligible format, the SOMAH PA will collect the bids and attach them to the SOMAH online application database. If the Host Customer did not receive at least three bids, or if the bids were not received from an eligible SOMAH contractor or in the eligible format, the Host Customer will be directed to the online bidding portal where they can access more bids. The Host Customer will have 20 days to submit the multiple bids or their application will be cancelled.

Projects in Track B are not required to participate in the multiple bidding process. However, the Host Customer will be provided information about the availability of the multiple bid portal and the option to participate or decline the multiple bidding process.

³⁵ All contractors must attend and complete a Contractor Eligibility Workshop before participating in the SOMAH program.

³³ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4, Application Process.

³⁴ Id.

Project cost and bidding information will be made public in the aggregate, thus increasing the public information around costs in this sector.

XII. Coordination with Investor Owned Utilities

A. Data Collection

The SOMAH PA will work closely with each participating IOU to create a safe and efficient process for the transfer of data for program administration purposes. A Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) between the SOMAH PA and participating IOUs will be executed that describes the type of data needed to fulfill the SOMAH PAs obligation in administering the program. The NDA is intended to manage the provisions of confidential customer information between the SOMAH PA and the IOU in accordance with the Decision.

B. Invoicing for Incentives:

The SOMAH PA will structure contracts for the transfer of incentive funding with each participating IOU. These contracts will outline the framework for incentive transfer to the PA.

XIII. Marketing, Education & Outreach

Participation from diverse communities across California is critical to the success of the SOMAH program. The SOMAH PA will continually engage a broad selection of stakeholders, including utilities, housing organizations, community-based organizations and tenant advocates to promote the SOMAH program and encourage eligible parties to participate. In addition, the SOMAH PA will work with housing owners to ensure that tenants in participating properties receive the information they need to maximize benefits and understand the implications of time of use (TOU) rates.³⁶

A. Submittal of Annual ME&O Plans

The SOMAH PA will submit a detailed program launch plan, budget, and copies of marketing materials to the CPUC's Energy Division within 60 days of the Tier 3 Advice Letter Program Handbook approval. In addition, the PA will submit an annual marketing plan that includes activities proposed for the next year, a year-in-review of the activities completed in the current year, as well as the subcontractors engaged to complete the activities. All marketing plans will be released to the service list for public review and comment prior to posting on the CalDGStats website.

³⁶ D.17-12-022 at 20, "Given the statutory requirements to provide protection from rate changes we find it reasonable to exempt participating tenants from the requirement applying to other customers using the NEM successor tariff to take service under a TOU rate."

B. Target Audiences

SOMAH marketing will target two key audiences to ensure broad and diverse participation: 1) owners and operators of multifamily affordable housing, and 2) solar contractors. Audience-appropriate marketing tactics will be used for each of the three audiences, including culturally and linguistically appropriate education and outreach at the community level.

C. Marketing Tactics

1. Program Website

The SOMAH PA will develop and maintain a comprehensive program website with the following key components:

- Program overview and searchable Handbook
- Multilingual educational resources for affordable housing providers, contractors, and tenants
- Information for job seekers and hiring contractors, including a job board
- Application process, requirements and Program interest form
- Comprehensive list of stakeholder email addresses to receive recurring SOMAH information
- Program data and reporting tied to CalDGStats website

2. Workshops and Conferences

The SOMAH PA will host audience-specific periodic workshops to educate affordable housing owners, contractors. In addition, the SOMAH PA will table at several annual conferences to engage with potential participants and provide speakers relevant to key SOMAH audiences.

3. Network-based Marketing

The SOMAH PA will utilize the team's extensive affordable housing provider and solar contractor networks to promote the SOMAH program using various methods of communication.

4. Coordination with Existing Services

The SOMAH PA will coordinate with related service providers including energy efficiency programs, utilities, government agencies, solar and storage associations and nonprofits to market SOMAH to affordable housing audiences.

5. Community-based Outreach and Education

The SOMAH PA will subcontract with community-based organizations to provide culturally and linguistically appropriate outreach to the communities they serve, with a focus on tenants, other community organizations, job training organizations

and local affordable housing providers. The contracted organizations will rotate on an annual basis to ensure broad geographic and demographic coverage.

6. Media

The SOMAH PA will engage statewide, industry-specific and community-based media outlets to promote the program launch and ongoing successes, as well as social media.

D. <u>Progress Assessments</u>

The SOMAH PA will assess the success of its marketing strategies based on the number of program applicants, geographic spread and diversity of SOMAH program participation. Assessments will be conducted on a quarterly basis and strategies adjusted accordingly. Community-based organizations subcontracted to assist with ME&O will also be required to submit quarterly assessments to the SOMAH PA. An analysis and discussion of strategy adjustments will be included in each annual marketing plan submitted.

E. Direct Outreach to Affordable Housing Providers

The SOMAH PA team will conduct a multifamily affordable housing market characterization study to inform direct outreach efforts to affordable housing providers in addition to the above marketing tactics. The market characterization study will include a list of potentially-eligible multifamily low-income properties with deed restrictions.

The SOMAH PA will identify and connect with affordable housing owners and operators to provide a program overview, review the housing provider's portfolio to help identify all eligible properties in their portfolio and assist housing providers to apply for the program.

F. <u>Tenant Education</u>

Properties participating in SOMAH will be required to educate their tenants about the solar project and its benefits or impact on them. The SOMAH PA will create a tenant engagement toolkit for housing owners with multilingual educational resources. IOUs will have the opportunity to review and provide suggestions for the materials to be distributed in their respective service territory. Resources will include:

- Information on the project, including timeline;
- Solar and energy efficiency education, including programs available to tenants;
- TOU Rate Fact Sheet and information on energy bill impacts, developed in collaboration with the relevant utility;
- Information on workforce development opportunities.

The SOMAH PA will evaluate the effectiveness of the education strategy and resources provided based on direct feedback from utilities. Feedback regarding the effectiveness of the education strategy and resources provided from affordable housing providers, tenants and community-based organizations will be garnered through direct outreach and surveys. The

SOMAH PA will track program website volume, and the volume and type of calls that are made to the program's tenant hotline.

XIV. Conflict of Interest Policy for SOMAH PA Team Members

The SOMAH PA is committed to preventing any actual conflicts of interest and avoiding any potential conflicts of interest that could arise through the administration and implementation of the program. This section provides an overview of the SOMAH PA's approach and the processes to be implemented to prevent any actual conflicts of interest and avoid any potential conflicts of interest in the performance of program tasks. This section also describes a future public reporting process for any known or alleged conflicts of interest.

A. Background

The success of the SOMAH program is predicated, in part, on having a fair, open, and transparent solar project development market. In order for this to occur, it is necessary to ensure that all program participants, including project developers, have equal access to all relevant program and project information. Furthermore, it must be ensured that no program participant or project developer receives any special advantage, recommendation, or information to which the public does not have access from any member of the SOMAH PA. Apart from ensuring no special advantage or recommendation is actually received, it is also important to prevent the perception that any program participant or project developer could have received a special advantage, recommendation, or information to which the public does not have access.

In the Decision, the Commission required applicants for the PA role to delineate any possible conflicts of interest in RFP responses, particularly in relation to a PA member's potential role as both a program participant and as a PA; and, propose safeguards to ensure their PA role does not confer on them any unfair advantage as a program participant or interfere with the creation of an open and competitive market.

B. Conflict of Interest Policy

In its RFP response, the SOMAH PA described known and potential conflicts of interest and developed a conflict of interest policy that includes a protocol for identifying, preventing, and avoiding any actual or potential conflicts of interest. Each PA team member with known or alleged conflicts of interest is required to submit a detailed plan to comply with the policy, subject to approval by the PA team members with no identified actual or potential conflict of interest.

The conflict of interest policy addresses three primary areas for the PA team members, as described below:

1. Physical Separation

No PA team member has, through physical proximity, the opportunity to share information of a competitive nature that is not available to the public concerning SOMAH program implementation (including with respect to TA Services) with any person or entity other than persons working on the PA Team and affordable housing owners.

2. Electronic Separation

All systems and databases to be used in the SOMAH program will be proprietary to the SOMAH PA operations and segregated and protected in such a way as to prevent access to proprietary information by any PA team member with a perceived or actual conflict of interest and/or any potential program participant. This includes, but is not limited to: online application database, project development and cost information, Salesforce, and any other platforms, tools, or resources that will be utilized in the SOMAH Program.

3. Identity Separation

Once the SOMAH program launches, there will be a branding and communication regime that ensures the SOMAH PA functions and communicates as one entity and will not be represented as the individual organizations that comprise the SOMAH PA. This branding and communication regime will address all public-facing branding and communications in all media and contexts, including, but not limited to, websites, marketing and program description materials, application forms, electronic communications of all types, including, but not limited to, email and social media, print, news coverage, PR, business cards, and statements made the public.

C. Public Resources

In the forthcoming website revamp to coincide with program launch, the SOMAH PA will make available to the public additional information regarding its conflict of interest policy and related procedures as well as a dedicated space and defined process for any member of the public to report known and potential conflicts of interest. All alleged conflicts of interest reported by members of the public will be investigated by the PA team members with no identified actual or potential conflict of interest, with results and details shared with the CPUC Energy Division and stakeholders.

The SOMAH PA has implemented these protocols to ensure conflicts of interest will be avoided throughout the duration of the SOMAH program. In addition to the elements described here, the SOMAH PA team members will follow all related existing laws and standards.

Attachment B

Revised SOMAH Program Implementation Plan April 9, 2019



Solar on Multifamily Affordable Housing

Table of Contents

I.		In [°]	troduction	1
II.		Αŗ	oplication Procedures	2
	A.		Application Database	3
	В.		Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Program Projects	3
	C.		Ensuring Tenant Benefit	4
Ш		Re	equirements for Documentation of Property Eligibility	4
	A.		Property Eligibility and Documentation Table	4
	В.		SOMAH Required Multifamily Low-Income Housing Eligibility Documentation	5
		1.	Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Eligibility	5
		2.	Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation	6
		3.	Additional Cover Sheet Specifications	6
		4.	VNEM Allocation Worksheet	7
		5.	Certificate of Occupancy	7
		6.	Interconnection Authorization Letter	7
	C.		Ineligible Multifamily Low-Income Housing Properties	7
IV		Pr	ogram Budget	7
	A.		Collections to Date	8
	В.		Methodology for Budgeting the SOMAH Program Incentives and Administrative Budget	8
	C.		Administrative Budget	9
	D.		Incentive Budget	11
		1.	Incentive Rates	11
		2.	Process to Track Incentives for Each IOU	12
		3.	Safeguards to Ensure Incentives Paid for Projects Do Not Exceed Funding	12
		4.	Invoicing Process and Frequency	12
٧.		Jo	b Training Requirements	13
	A.		SOMAH Job Training Requirements	13
	В.		SOMAH Job Training Resources and Local Hiring Initiatives	14
		1.	Statewide Directory of Job Training Organizations (JTOs)	14
		2.	SOMAH Job Training Portal	14
		3.	Local Hiring Initiatives	15
		4.	Opportunities for Tenants	15
	C.		SOMAH Required Documentation for Job Training	15

	1. Submit a Completed Job Trainee Intake Form	16
	2. Submit a Completed Job Training Affidavit	16
D.	Focus on Data Collection, Tracking of Trainees, and Reporting	16
VI.	Third-Party Ownership Requirements	17
A.	Certification of System Performance	17
В.	Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Benefit	17
C.	Performance Monitoring and Reporting Service Contract	18
VII.	Energy Efficiency Requirements	18
A.	Pathway 1: Energy Efficiency Walk Through Audit	18
В.	Pathway 2: Recent or Active Participation in an Energy Efficiency Program	18
C.	Energy Efficiency Documentation Required in Application	19
VIII.	Data Collection and Reporting Requirements	19
A.	Data Collection and Reporting Requirements (Including Report Format)	19
В.	Semi-Annual Expense Report (SAER)	20
C.	Identification of Incentives Awarded to Each Eligibility Grouping	20
IX.	Supplier Diversity Rules	21
Χ.	nterim Targets for Capacity Goals	21
XI.	Standardized Bidding Form and Online Tool	24
XII.	Coordination with Investor Owned Utilities	25
A.	Data Collection	25
В.	Invoicing for Incentives:	25
XIII.	Marketing, Education & Outreach	25
A.	Submittal of Annual ME&O Plans	25
В.	Target Audiences	26
C.	Marketing Tactics	26
	1. Program Website	26
	2. Workshops and Conferences	26
	3. Network-based Marketing	26
	4. Coordination with Existing Services	26
	5. Community-based Outreach and Education	26
	5. Media	27
D.	Progress Assessments	27
E.	Direct Outreach to Affordable Housing Providers	27

F. Tenant Education	27
XIV. Conflict of Interest Policy for SOMAH PA Team Members	28
A. Background	28
B. Conflict of Interest Policy	28
1. Physical Separation	29
2. Electronic Separation	29
3. Identity Separation	29
C. Public Resources	29

I. Introduction

Assembly Bill (AB) 693 (Stats. 2015, ch. 582) directed the California Public Utilities Commission (Commission) to institute a new program intended to make qualifying solar energy systems more accessible to low-income and disadvantaged communities (DACs). The goal of this new program is to install solar energy systems that have a generating capacity equivalent to at least 300 megawatts (MW) on qualified multifamily affordable housing properties through December 31, 2030. This program is funded with up to \$100,000,000 annually from Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E), Southern California Edison Company (SCE), Liberty Utilities Company (Liberty), and PacifiCorp's (collectively the investor-owned utilities or IOUs) share of greenhouse gas (GHG) allowance auction proceeds.

In accordance with AB 693, the Commission issued Decision D.17-12-022 (Decision) on December 14, 2017, creating the Solar On Multifamily Affordable Housing (SOMAH) program.² The Decision established SOMAH program goals, eligibility requirements, program administration and program funding, and provided guidance for the selection of a statewide Program Administrator (PA) that would oversee the newly created SOMAH program. The Commission directed its Energy Division (ED) to select the PA through a Request for Proposal (RFP) process managed by SCE.

The SOMAH RFP was released on February 13, 2018, and was subsequently awarded to the SOMAH Nonprofit Administrative Partnership (SOMAH PA) - a unique partnership team of mission-aligned nonprofit organizations that sought the role of Program Administrator for the SOMAH program.³ This nonprofit program administration team will ensure the SOMAH program creates the most value possible for the tenants and communities it was designed to serve, with a mission-led and values-based approach.

The Commission directed the designated PA to submit a Tier 3 implementation Advice Letter for Commission consideration no later than August 30, 2018.⁴ The Commission requires the SOMAH Program Implementation Proposal (PIP) to include sections on at least the following subjects:

- Application procedures;
- 2. Requirements for documentation of building, property, and project eligibility;

¹ Public Utilities Code Section 2870(f)(1).

² R.14-07-002, D.17-12-022, Decision Adopting Implementation Framework for Assembly Bill 693 and Creating the Solar On Multifamily Affordable Housing Program, December 14, 2017.

³ The SOMAH PA team is comprised of the Association for Energy Affordability (AEA), Center for Sustainable Energy® (CSE), and GRID Alternatives (GRID), as well as its subcontractors, including the California Housing Partnership Corporation (CHPC), Rising Sun Energy Center and rotating community-based organizations.

⁴ D.17-12-022 at 24.

- 3. A program budget that includes line items for incentives and administrative activities, including but not limited to marketing, education, and outreach (ME&O);
- Specific job training requirements consistent with those defined in the Decision;
- 5. Specific rules for implementing the third-party ownership requirements defined in the Decision:
- 6. Specific energy efficiency requirements consistent with those adopted in the Decision;
- 7. Data collection and reporting requirements, including report formats;
- 8. Supplier Diversity Rules; and
- 9. Interim targets for capacity goals, consistent with the AB 693 requirement for 300 MW before 2030.⁵

In addition to the specific subjects requested by the Commission, this PIP also explains how the SOMAH PA will coordinate with the IOUs, execute its ME&O obligations, communicate effectively between stakeholders, and create a competitive bidding process for SOMAH projects. Some programmatic details, such as VNEM rates and design can be located in the respective IOU tariff submittals.

The SOMAH PA will validate application and project eligibility, validate and perform quality control checks on applications, validate installations, validate tenant benefits, and conduct a budget true-up process. The SOMAH PA will also ensure that program website tenant engagement toolkit will be updated on a timely basis. The utilities, in coordination with the SOMAH PA, will develop VNEM allocation sheets and digital forms, process ESA Program referrals from the SOMAH Program and will handle customer billing inquiry calls.

The SOMAH PA would like to thank the State Legislature, Governor, and Commission for this monumental opportunity and looks forward to implementing the nation's largest solar energy program specifically tailored to providing renewable energy benefits to tenants of multifamily affordable housing.

Application Procedures II.

The SOMAH program application process allows for the reservation of incentive funds for property owners or operators who have committed to the purchase and installation of a solar energy system at eligible project sites. Prospective SOMAH participants can apply under two different tracks depending on the level of technical assistance they may require.⁶ SOMAH program reservations will be available on a first-come, first-served basis and last for the duration of the reservation period. This process will ensure incentives are available when the "Incentive Claim" is made. In the event that application submissions exceed the available funds in a participating utility territory, a waitlist will be initiated.

⁵ *Id.* at 55-56.

⁶ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4, Application Process for SOMAH Projects.

A. Application Database

All applications will be submitted through an online application tool. The online application tool will be used to:

- 1. Collect application data and documentation;
- 2. Review application data and documentation;
- 3. Manage communications between the SOMAH PA and the Applicant;
- 4. Manage application deadlines;
- 5. Manage incentive budgets by IOU service area.

The online application tool will provide administrators, applicants, and project stakeholders with a comprehensive, streamlined rebate application process that aims to minimize errors and mistakes.⁷

B. Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Program Projects

The SOMAH PA will have a dedicated team of application processors. Each processor will be trained in SOMAH application requirements, policies and processes through hands-on database training. Additionally, each processor will be trained in, and have access to, standard operating procedure manuals, flow charts and the SOMAH program handbook. This will result in efficient processing of applications while providing maximum oversight for quality control. All project application inquiries will be managed through an online database and monitored by the SOMAH PA so that applications are responded to within one business day.

Additionally, a set percentage of applications processed will be sent through a quality control (QC) review to ensure entries to the database are accurate and reflect a high level of accuracy. Any discrepancies in the data or errors regarding applicant eligibility will be corrected and the responsible party notified. Parties found to make errors will be monitored for quality at an increased rate until their accuracy returns to acceptable levels. In addition to random QC reviews, the SOMAH PA will track performance over time, including reporting the amount of time required to review applications. This allows the SOMAH PA to address bottlenecks, increase efficiency, and identify opportunities to improve.

To ensure the quality and completeness of the work performed by participating contractors, the SOMAH PA will perform SOMAH installation inspections. The SOMAH inspection will occur after the Incentive Claim has been submitted and will verify that: 1) the equipment listed on the SOMAH application matches the system installed equipment; 2) the orientation and shading of the equipment matches the SOMAH application; and 3) the system is operational. As part of its quality assurance and control efforts, the SOMAH PA will also solicit input from contractors via public workshops to ensure the most up to date and relevant jobsite safety protocols are incorporated into a model worksite safety program for SOMAH installations.

⁷ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4, Application Process for SOMAH Projects, for a more detailed overview of the SOMAH incentive application process.

C. Ensuring Tenant Benefit

The Decision requires at least 51% of incentivized system benefits flow to tenants. In order to ensure tenants of participating SOMAH installations receive the full economic benefits allocated to them via Virtual Net Energy Metering (VNEM), the SOMAH PA has implemented a process to verify VNEM allocations between tenants and common areas are correctly apportioned. The SOMAH PA will also ensure that building owners cannot recapture tenant savings via rent increases, utility allowance adjustments, or other recapture mechanisms. This verification process utilizes two distinct mechanisms to safe-guard tenant economic benefits:

- 1) The SOMAH PA will require Applicants to submit a VNEM Allocation Worksheet demonstrating at least 51% of the electricity generated by the system will be used to offset the tenant's usage for the life of the system or 20 years, whichever is less. This allocation sheet will be required at the Reservation Request step, and if changes are made to the allocations, the VNEM allocation worksheet will require updating at the Proof of Project Milestone and Incentive Claim steps. This worksheet will be reviewed to verify that the allocation is consistent with the incentive application, final incentive amount, and the interconnection application submitted to the IOU. How bill credits are applied are addressed in the respective tariffs of the IOUs.
- 2) The SOMAH PA will require Applicants to submit a signed affidavit certifying under penalty of perjury that the Host Customer will not include system benefits in utility allowance calculations, thus preventing the recapture of tenant economic benefits through the raising or rent or other means.¹⁰

III. Requirements for Documentation of Property Eligibility

A. Property Eligibility and Documentation Table

The following table organizes the documentation required to validate SOMAH's eligibility requirements:

Property Eligibility Requirements	Required Documentation
Property must be low-income residential	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code
housing as defined in PUC Section 2852,	Section 2852 eligibility
pursuant to terms of financing or financial	 Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code
assistance, and:	Section 2852 Documentation, which
(a) located in a disadvantaged community	includes DAC and HCD information.
as defined by the California	

⁸ D.17-12-022 at 17, 66.

⁹ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4 for more information regarding the SOMAH application step process.

¹⁰ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Appendix E., Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Economic Benefit.

Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) pursuant to Health and Safety Code (HSC) Section 39711; or, (b) at least 80% of property residents must have incomes at or below 60% of the Area Median Income (AMI) as determined by the Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD).	
Property must have at least five residential housing units.	 Virtual Net-Energy Metering (VNEM) Allocation Form
Property must be subject to either a deed restriction or regulatory agreement between the property owner and a financing agency under which the property is classified as affordable housing.	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 eligibility Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation
There must be 10 years remaining on the term of the property's affordability restrictions.	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 eligibility Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation
Rents for low-income tenants maintained within required limits per rent restrictions.	 Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 eligibility Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation
Units must be separately metered and eligible for a virtual net-energy metering tariff.	VNEM Allocation Form
Only existing buildings are eligible.	 Certificate of Occupancy (if required) Interconnection authorization letter (if required)
Properties with Community Choice Aggregators (CCA) may participate if the serving CCA has a VNEM tariff.	No documentation needed

B. SOMAH Required Multifamily Low-Income Housing Eligibility Documentation

To verify property eligibility, the Applicant will be required to submit the following documentation:

1. Documentation of Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Eligibility

Applicant must provide a copy of the deed-restriction, regulatory agreement, or covenant that restricts the property to low-income residential housing as defined in

PUC Section 2852 and pursuant to terms of financing or financial assistance by one or more of the following:

- Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC);
- Tax-exempt mortgage revenue bonds;
- General obligation bonds;
- Local, state, or federal loans or grants.

2. Cover Sheet for Public Utilities Code Section 2852 Documentation

Applicants are required to submit a cover sheet¹¹ summarizing key details from the deed restriction or regulatory agreement, such as the:

- Property owner name;
- Public entity/non-profit agency name;
- Expiration date of low income documentation proving that the property has at least 10 years of affordability remaining at time of SOMAH application.

3. Additional Cover Sheet Specifications

Applicants will also be required to specify on the Cover Sheet whether:

- a) 80% of property residents must have incomes at or below 60% of the Area Median Income (AMI) as determined by the Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD); or,
- b) is located in a disadvantaged community as defined by the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) pursuant to Health and Safety Code (HSC) Section 50025.5. For the SOMAH program, this is defined as DACs that score in the top 25% of census tracts statewide in the CalEnviroScreen 3.0. Also included are 22 census tracts in the highest 5% of the CalEnviroScreen's Pollution Burden.

The SOMAH PA will then verify information provided on the Cover Sheet by inspecting the Applicant's documentation and/or verifying the project exists in an eligible DAC census tract.

Properties with less than 10 years remaining on the affordability requirement term must extend the affordability requirements for a total of 10 years. Those properties that are willing to extend the affordability requirements may access SOMAH preapplication technical assistance. Proof of completed extension of affordability restrictions from a state or local agency must be provided with the Reservation Request Package submission.

¹¹ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, *Appendix D*; *Cover Sheet for Multifamily Low-Income Housing Documentation*.

4. VNEM Allocation Worksheet

The SOMAH PA will utilize the VNEM Allocation Worksheet to verify the property has at least five units and is allocating at least 51% of the electricity generated by the system for tenant usage.

5. Certificate of Occupancy

Only existing buildings are eligible for SOMAH program incentives. An existing building is defined by having a certificate of occupancy prior to or at application submittal. Owners may submit a pre-application request for technical assistance for an otherwise eligible property to ensure a property will be solar ready before securing a certificate of occupancy for an existing building. For SOMAH-eligibility, a property must apply for the solar permit from the authority having jurisdiction after the effective date of the certificate of occupancy to be considered an existing building.

6. Interconnection Authorization Letter

Properties that received a final interconnection authorization letter less than 12 months prior to submitting the Reservation Request Package may include a copy of this letter at the request of the SOMAH PA.

C. <u>Ineligible Multifamily Low-Income Housing Properties</u>

The following are **not** eligible for incentives under the SOMAH Program:

- Properties that have received a final interconnection authorization letter dated more than 12 months prior to submitting a SOMAH Reservation Request Package;
- Properties that are owned by publicly-owned or investor-owned gas or electricity distribution utilities, or any electrical corporation (ref. PUC Section 218) that generates or purchases electricity or natural gas for wholesale or retail sales;
- Properties with new construction systems are not eligible for the SOMAH Program. A
 new construction system is a solar system that is installed prior to receipt of the
 certificate of occupancy for the Host Customer Site;
- Master-metered properties.

IV. Program Budget

The SOMAH Program provides financial incentives for the installation of at least 300 MW of solar energy photovoltaic systems on multifamily affordable housing properties that meet the definition of low-income residential housing through the year 2030. In accordance with AB 693,

as amended by Senate Bill (SB) 92 (Stats. 2017, ch. 26), the SOMAH Program will be funded with \$100,000,000 or 66.67 percent of available funds, whichever is less, from the revenues described in subdivision (c) of PUC Section 748.5 beginning July 1, 2016, and ending, at the earliest, by June 30, 2020.

The award of monetary incentives for qualifying solar energy systems that are installed on qualified multifamily affordable housing properties is authorized by the Commission through December 31, 2030. Per PUC Section 2870(c), "the Commission shall continue authorizing the allocation of funds through June 30, 2026, if the Commission determines that revenues are available after 2020 and that there is adequate interest and participation in the program." Unlike the Multifamily Affordable Solar Housing (MASH) program, which was funded solely by the three larger electric utilities, 12 the SOMAH draws its funding from the GHG allowance auction proceeds of five IOUs. 13

90% of the overall SOMAH budget of approximately \$100,000,000 is intended for distribution as incentives for eligible projects. The administration budget for SOMAH is capped annually at \$10,000,000 or 10% of annual available funds, whichever is less.

A. Collections to Date

The SOMAH program is funded by contributions from the sale of Greenhouse Gas Reduction Funds (GGRF) from the IOUs, plus the anticipated collections through 2018, totaling approximately \$118,698,866. The SOMAH PA calculated the approximate percentage share of contributions for 2018 from each participating IOU as follows: PG&E at 43.09%, SCE at 45.36%, SDG&E at 10.16%, PacifiCorp at 0.34% and Liberty Utility at 0.34%.

B. <u>Methodology for Budgeting the SOMAH Program Incentives and Administrative</u> <u>Budget</u>

Utilizing the sale of GHG allowances allocated to California's IOUs through California's Cap-and-Trade program may cause SOMAH incentive and administration budgets to fluctuate. The table below provides what portion of funds participating IOUs will likely contribute when the maximum collections of \$100M per year are obtained for the SOMAH program.

IOU	% of Total Proceeds	2018 Share of \$100M/annual allocations
PG&E	43.09%	\$43,090,000
SCE	45.36%	\$45,360,000

¹² PG&E, SDG&E, and SCE.

_

¹³ The five IOUs are: PG&E, SDG&E, SCE, PacifiCorp, and Liberty.

SDG&E	10.16%	\$10,160,000
PacifiCorp	1.05%	\$1,050,000
Liberty	0.34%	\$340,000
Total	100%	\$100,000,000

Available incentive amounts will be capped by the funding available in each IOU service area. Projects may only receive incentives from the IOU service area in which the project is located. When the SOMAH Program is launched and begins accepting reservations, projects will be queued on a first-come, first-serve basis and will receive a reservation only if funding is available. Five individual reservation queues and up to five waitlist queues will exist representing each IOU service area. If funding becomes unavailable due to subscription levels or lower than anticipated Cap-and-Trade funding, a waitlist will be created until more funding becomes available. Upon the receipt of further funding, projects will be moved off the waitlist in the order they were received.

To provide transparency into available funding and overall program budgets, the SOMAH PA will publish incentive budgets for each IOU service area based on quarterly GHG auction proceeds reported to CaliforniaDGStats.ca.gov (CalDGStats). The SOMAH PA will also provide tables that include budget information on total incentives that remain available, are held in reservation, or were paid.

The SOMAH administration budget is also drawn from GHG allowances collected through California's Cap-and-Trade program and may therefore be subject to fluctuations in funding. To account for this possibility, the SOMAH PA has incorporated a budget fluctuation model to mitigate uncertainty. The fluctuation model works by ramping program activities up or down depending on the annual available administration funds. For example, if the program budget in a year is only half the anticipated collection, the SOMAH PA will reduce program scope by 50% except for the critical components needed to administer the program. The SOMAH PA will also work directly with ED to determine which program activities should be pared down first. In years where the administration is fully funded, the SOMAH PA will plan for fully scoped tasks as described in this document. Additionally, the SOMAH PA and SCE will incorporate any scope changes made due to underfunding into the Scope of Work (SOW) as necessary.

C. Administrative Budget

SCE will compensate the SOMAH PA for its estimated administrative costs on a quarterly basis. The SOMAH PA will submit to the ED and SCE an invoice for the PA's estimated administrative expenses 30 days before the start of the next quarter, which will be trued-up against the previous quarter's actual expenses. The estimated program administration expenses will include the basis for requesting an advance payment and will provide reasonably detailed

calculations for the forecasted expenditures and a quarterly work schedule. The SOMAH decision further authorizes the CPUC to reimburse the ED up to \$2,000,000 annually from the participating utilities' GHG proceeds for activities related to implementation and oversight of the SOMAH Program.¹⁴

The following table describes the different categories that comprise the SOMAH Administrative Budget:

Administrative Budget Category	Activity Details
General SOMAH Program Administration	SOMAH Working Group, Regulatory Compliance, Contract Maintenance, Tracking Expenses, Database Management, Program Reporting, Application Processing, On-site Field Verifications, Advisory Counsel, Program Development.
SOMAH Marketing, Education and Outreach	Brand Development, Website Development, Community Based Organization Outreach, General Marketing Efforts, Conferences, Property and Tenant Engagement, Contractor Engagement.
SOMAH Workforce Development	Resource and Content Creation related to Job Training Materials and Outreach, Support Services, Collaboration with Job Training Organizations.
SOMAH Technical Assistance	General Billing Education, Phone Support, System Performance Monitoring Support, Fault Detection, Utility Bill Monitoring, Surveying, Financial Education, PV Installation Education.
SOMAH CPUC/ED Expenses	Energy Division's preparation of an annual report to the State Legislature, activities related to the competitive bidding processes, and all evaluation, measurement, and verification activities. ¹⁵

¹⁴ D.17-12-022 at 57

¹⁵ *Id*. at 57

IOU Expenses*	Potential internal utility administrative activities	
	directly attributable to SOMAH and associated	
	with compliance with the program.	

*The SOMAH PA is also currently collaborating with each IOU to determine potential internal utility administrative activities directly attributable to SOMAH that may be required for IOU compliance with the SOMAH program, such as data collection and transfer. The SOMAH PA hopes for continued collaboration with the IOUs and ED to determine the most appropriate compensation to IOUs for these potential administrative activities.

D. Incentive Budget

1. Incentive Rates

The incentive structure is based on an upfront capacity (kW) based incentive. SOMAH's first year incentive rates are detailed below:

TAX CREDITS		\$ per AC Watt Incentive	
ІТС	LIHTC	Tenant	Common
No	No	\$3.20	\$1.10
Yes	No	\$2.25	\$0.80
No	Yes	\$2.25	\$0.80
Yes	Yes	\$1.60	\$0.60

To reflect changes in actual market costs, SOMAH incentive levels will be subject to predetermined reductions on an annual basis. Incentive levels, on an annual basis, will decrease either by 5%, or by the annual percent decline in residential solar costs as reflected by NREL reports, whichever is less. ¹⁶ Projects will receive the incentive level available at the time a reservation is confirmed. The Commission may modify this incentive reduction process as the program progresses based on information obtained about market costs, or through the SOMAH program evaluations. A modification to this incentive reduction process will be detailed through notice to stakeholders and program participants.

Unlike previous incentive programs where the Federal Investment Tax Credit (ITC) along with the other financial benefiting incentives such as the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) were not factored into the incentive amount, incentives paid by the SOMAH Program will be reserved based on the funding sources leveraged for the project. As highlighted in Table 3, projects will be eligible for differential

¹⁶ D.17-12-022, page 43.

incentives based on if they are also leveraging the ITC and/or LIHTC. Projects will also be required to delineate the percent of load that will be tenant-serving and the percent of load that will be offsetting common area loads. Any oversight made by the Applicant or Host Customer on documenting the ITC, LIHTC, additional program incentives, and/or the tenant load/common area load split may result in consequences including immediate disqualification from participating in SOMAH, as further detailed in the SOMAH Program Handbook.

2. Process to Track Incentives for Each IOU

The SOMAH PA will create a process whereby eligible projects will be allowed to submit for incentive funding within each IOU service area. CalDGStats will host an incentive tracker that will track budget information on total incentives available, reserved, and paid in each IOU service area.

3. Safeguards to Ensure Incentives Paid for Projects Do Not Exceed Funding

The SOMAH PA will track incentives reserved and paid in each IOU service territory by assigning each project a unique identifier or application number that will correspond to the utility territory in which it resides. The nomenclature to be used is as follows:

- Pacific Gas & Electric PGE-SOMAH-XXXXX
- Southern California Edison SCE-SOMAH-XXXXX
- San Diego Gas & Electric SDGE-SOMAH-XXXXX
- PacifiCorp PAC- SOMAH-XXXXX
- Liberties Utilities LIB-SOMAH-XXXXX

To provide budget transparency, the incentive budgets for each IOU service area will be visible on the CalDGStats website and updated no less than weekly.

4. Invoicing Process and Frequency

Making incentive payments to completed projects is one of the SOMAH program's most important responsibilities, as incentives may cover the up to 100% of the tenant-serving load portion of a project. The SOMAH PA's plan for invoice process and frequency is to:

- Enter into individual agreements with each participating IOU for the charge and distribution of incentive payments;
- Invoice individual IOUs for incentive payment for completed projects, as determined by the IOU payment agreements;
- Pay individual incentives in accordance with funding received by IOUs.

V. Job Training Requirements

The Decision requires the SOMAH PA to maintain an active role in developing program components that promote economic development in DACs through job training and local hiring initiatives.¹⁷ The Commission also directed the SOMAH PA to develop strategies to encourage local hiring by contractors participating in the program.¹⁸ The SOMAH PA anticipates that a dedicated focus on local hiring initiatives and development of effective recruiting, training and hiring tools will result in a successful program. These strategies can create valuable short-term paid training opportunities on SOMAH projects, as well as potentially many long-term, well-paying jobs for participants.

A. SOMAH Job Training Requirements

The Commission referenced the MASH program as providing a reasonable framework for job training requirements but requested emphasis on the quality of training for each job training participant rather than maximizing the number of participants trained. ¹⁹ Accordingly, the SOMAH PA developed the following requirements for hours and number of job trainees for SOMAH based on system size:

System Size (CEC-AC)	Required Number of Job Trainees	
0kW- < 50kW	1 trainee and no less than 40 hours of employment per trainee	
50kW- < 100kW	2 trainees and no less than 40 hours of employment per trainee	
100kW and greater	2 trainees and no less than 80 of employment per trainee	

The type of work eligible for SOMAH's job trainees emulates the North American Board of Certified Energy Practitioners (NABCEP) categories for job functions. NABCEP categories were chosen because they are an industry standard and should result in trainees receiving relevant hands-on training that can result in workforce recruitment. The SOMAH PA has also set minimum job trainee wages for hours spent working on SOMAH projects, as further described in the SOMAH Program Handbook.²⁰

¹⁷ D.17-12-022 at 25-26.

¹⁸ *Id*.

¹⁹ *Id.* at 26.

²⁰ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 2, Job Training Requirements.

B. SOMAH Job Training Resources and Local Hiring Initiatives

The SOMAH PA will offer a robust platform and suite of resources to assist contractors in finding eligible job trainees for projects:

1. Statewide Directory of Job Training Organizations (JTOs)

The SOMAH PA will develop and regularly update a statewide Job Training Organizations (JTOs) Directory. This resource will be available to SOMAH Contractors, property owners, the ED and other stakeholders. SOMAH Contractors can use the directory to locate local JTOs that assist in recruiting trainees interested in solar careers, as well as provide skills training and job readiness training to complement experience gained on solar installation job sites and other solar technology.

The SOMAH PA will conduct a comprehensive statewide marketing and outreach campaign coinciding with the program launch, aimed at reaching relevant CA job training and work preparedness programs, including: community colleges, universities, community job training programs, pre-apprenticeship programs and others. The SOMAH PA will educate JTOs on SOMAH job training opportunities and assist the JTOs in listing their appropriate contact information for the statewide directory.

2. SOMAH Job Training Portal

The SOMAH PA will develop the SOMAH Job Training Portal, a central online hub where contractors can manage each SOMAH project's job training requirement. Prospective Trainees will also be able to connect with job training opportunities. The portal will include a "Resume Bank" where contractors can search for eligible trainees, as well as a "Job Board" to post and manage open SOMAH trainee positions and other work opportunities available to the Contractor. All Contractors will have access to the Resume Bank of eligible trainees, as well as the Job Training Organization Directory.

The SOMAH PA will ensure that individuals who post their resume to the Resume Bank also have access to information about companies that are hiring, services such as resume-building and interviewing workshops, and referrals to other programs (including the JTO Directory).

Contained within the Training Portal will be the SOMAH Job Board, where contractors will be required to post SOMAH related jobs at least 30 days before installation. The SOMAH PA will provide a customizable template for the contractor that includes basic information around qualifications and experience desired, pay rate, estimated dates, hours and job location, etc. Contractors must ensure their insurance covers the trainee while performing job duties on a SOMAH project. The

SOMAH PA will be available to assist contractors with the Training Portal and connecting contractors with job applicants but will not perform the hiring functions. It remains the responsibility of the contractor to interview, hire, onboard, train and supervise trainees. Contractors who report hiring SOMAH trainees will additionally be surveyed at three, six, and nine months after the hire date. Contractors are required to respond to these surveys for a minimum of one year.

3. Local Hiring Initiatives

Due to the Commission's endorsement of local hiring practices,²¹ the SOMAH PA developed strategies to facilitate local hiring in the SOMAH Program. The SOMAH PA will conduct outreach to job training organizations statewide, specifically those that work with disadvantaged workers to increase the pool of local and disadvantaged trainees available for contractors in the Resume Bank. Any standardized bidding form used for the SOMAH program will also include space for contractors to describe their local hiring plans or strategies to include workers from disadvantaged communities in the project.

The Resume Bank/Job Board provides the additional benefit of assisting the SOMAH PA with gathering critical data regarding job retention. The SOMAH PA anticipates the Resume Bank/Job Board will encourage employee and contractor engagement, ensure resumes and job postings remain updated, and will also report back to administrators with employment status updates and hiring reports. In total, these hiring initiatives should increase the community co-benefits from SOMAH projects and improve the potential for valuable data collection as encouraged by the Commission and explained in Section 2 of the SOMAH Program Handbook.²²

4. Opportunities for Tenants

While the SOMAH program begins to deploy, the SOMAH PA will develop pathways to offer solar job training opportunities to residents of participating SOMAH properties. Examples of pathways include: 1) standardized marketing materials that property owners and contractors can display on site, 2) hosting solar installation trainings in or near the properties, and 3) informing tenants about the upcoming solar project and opportunities for solar job training and possible participation as a paid worker. Including tenants in SOMAH's job training initiatives serves the double-purpose of encouraging local hiring and possibly including historically disadvantaged workers.

C. SOMAH Required Documentation for Job Training

The Contractor is required to provide the following documentation for the SOMAH job training opportunity:

²¹ D.17-12-022 at 25-26.

²² D.17-12-022 at 25.

1. Submit a Completed Job Trainee Intake Form

The Job Trainee Intake Form on the SOMAH Job Portal will be used by the trainee to create a profile. This profile will gather information on the trainee's background and employment goals, including: past employment experience, goals and objectives for longer-term employment in the industry, and optional demographic information. While the contractor is responsible for ensuring that the Job Trainee Intake Form is submitted, the actual completion of the form is to be done electronically by the trainee to ensure their privacy. The SOMAH PA will conduct outreach to the trainees, survey them on their SOMAH experience as a trainee, and offer various services regarding resume development and further job placement.

2. Submit a Completed Job Training Affidavit

The Job Training Affidavit certifies the job training opportunity occurred, met or exceeded the program requirements, and will provide useful information for understanding the success of SOMAH's job training requirements. The Affidavit identifies the names of the eligible job training program and job trainee(s) used for each SOMAH installation, trainee contact information, types of job tasks completed, and hours worked and wages. Both the contractor and SOMAH job trainee(s) must complete and sign this affidavit after the trainee's time on the installation project is completed. The SOMAH PA may spot check these affidavits for accuracy and verification that the opportunity was provided to the trainee.

Both the Intake form and the Affidavit must be completed as a precursor to receiving a SOMAH incentive payment.

D. Focus on Data Collection, Tracking of Trainees, and Reporting

The SOMAH PA will collect and publish comprehensive data regarding SOMAH job training opportunities, including job performance and retention metrics, as further detailed in the Public Reporting on Job Training Data section of the Program Handbook. This will include basic information around the number of trainees, hours, and types of work, as well as more specialized information regarding wages, benefits, length of employment terms, demographic information (optional for trainees to include on the Job Trainee Intake form), etc.

In addition, the SOMAH PA aims to track trainees on their progress in obtaining long-term employment, as well as survey both the trainees and contractors on their experience with SOMAH's job training requirement. Information on trainees who are considered local hires, or disadvantaged workers, will also be collected, tracked, and made public. Information about the SOMAH program's job training outcomes and local hiring initiatives will be published in aggregate on CalDGStats, as well as included in standard SOMAH reporting to the Commission and Legislature. No personally-identifiable information will be published. The SOMAH PA

anticipates the Commission will find this information useful in its 2020 program evaluation of the SOMAH program.

In summary, the SOMAH PA will provide and build upon baseline tools to help the SOMAH contractors fulfill the SOMAH Job Training Requirement. These strategies will also encourage local hiring and connect job training organizations and job-seekers with SOMAH solar workforce opportunities, thereby furthering the community co-benefits from the SOMAH program.

VI. <u>Third-Party Ownership Requirements</u>

When a SOMAH incentivized system is owned by a third-party (typically a power purchase or leasing agreement), the SOMAH PA will require additional documentation to ensure that the economic benefits of solar PV systems accrue to tenants and that no additional costs are passed on to tenants.²³ The SOMAH PA will also require documentation to ensure third party systems perform in accordance with contractor guarantees.

A. Certification of System Performance

Third-party owned systems are required to provide evidence of operations, maintenance and monitoring for the full term of the third-party ownership agreement. Additionally, third-party owned systems must include performance guarantees ensuring the systems will produce a minimum of 90% of the expected annual production as calculated by the Expected Performance Based Buydown (EPBB) calculator for the duration of the agreement. Should a system's annual production fall below 90% of the expected annual production after a .05% annual degradation factor has been applied, the third-party owner is required to compensate the Host Customer for the lost production valued at the applicable Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) rate for the production year (adjusted for any PPA rate escalators), multiplied by the production shortfall for the annual period.

To ensure the requirements above are met, applicants will be required to submit a Certification of Compliance with SOMAH Performance Requirements for Third-Party Owned Systems²⁴ in a worksheet containing the Host Customer's signature with the Proof of Project Milestone submission.

B. Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Benefit

The Tenant Benefits Affidavit must be filled out and submitted with the Reservation Request to ensure that additional costs for a third-party system will not be passed on to the tenants.²⁵

²³ See D.17-12-022 at 23.

²⁴ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Appendix H., Certification of Compliance with SOMAH Performance Requirements for Third-Party Owned Systems.

²⁵ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Appendix E., Affidavit Ensuring 100% Tenant Economic Benefit.

C. Performance Monitoring and Reporting Service Contract

A Performance Monitoring and Reporting Service (PMRS), designed to keep track of a PV system's performance, is required for all projects, whether they are Host Customer owned or third-party owned. It is the responsibility of the System Owner to contract with a PMRS provider for a minimum of 20 years and ensure that 15-minute interval production data is provided to the SOMAH PA quarterly.

Third-party owned systems must contract with PMRS services for a term equal to the term of the third-party ownership agreement if different than 20 years.

VII. Energy Efficiency Requirements

All projects shall submit a Solar Sizing Workbook containing proof that an energy efficiency audit was conducted at the site. This Workbook will also be used to identify any cost-effective electricity load reduction opportunities at the property, net zero energy opportunities, and building energy use characteristics (including existing or planned EV charging), which will be maintained in the online database.

Participants can comply with the SOMAH energy efficiency requirement²⁶ through one of two pathways outlined below. Regardless of which pathway is pursued, the participant must submit a Solar Sizing Workbook within 60 days of filing a SOMAH Reservation Request. The SOMAH PA anticipates the energy efficiency audits will result in additional cost savings for eligible multifamily housing and should meaningfully pair with the benefits afforded by PV systems.

A. Pathway 1: Energy Efficiency Walk Through Audit

The participant is responsible for hiring a credentialed energy auditor, as defined in the SOMAH Program Handbook²⁷ to provide an energy efficiency audit. This energy audit report will be reviewed by the SOMAH PA to verify compliance with SOMAH audit requirements of the Program Handbook.

The SOMAH PA will conduct site verifications on a sampling of projects to verify accuracy of the energy audit report, and any non-compliance findings will be relayed to the property owner and the energy audit firm.

B. Pathway 2: Recent or Active Participation in an Energy Efficiency Program

Participants can also meet SOMAH's energy efficiency requirements with proof of recent²⁸ or active participation in an approved energy efficiency program, documentation of a recent California Tax Credit Allocation Committee (TCAC) rehabilitation, or documentation that the

²⁷ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 2, Energy-Efficiency Requirements.

²⁶ D.17-12-022 at 27.

²⁸ Defined as within the past three years from the initial SOMAH application submittal date.

property was retrofitted under a recent version of Title 24. A list of all currently approved programs will be maintained on CalSOMAH.org and SOMAH technical assistance can refer the property owner to potential applicable program(s) upon request.

C. Energy Efficiency Documentation Required in Application

The participant will be required to submit all energy efficiency documentation in accordance with the Program Handbook, depending on which Energy Efficiency Pathway is utilized for compliance. In all instances, the participant must also submit the Solar Sizing Workbook as described above.

VIII. Data Collection and Reporting Requirements

The SOMAH PA's overarching objectives for data collection and reporting are to ensure that robust data collection occurs in all program areas, and that the Commission, ED, IOUs, and members of the public receive timely and accurate reports on program progress. The SOMAH Program will continue to utilize the CalDGStats website as the single source for all data to be posted and displayed in formats that allows the viewer to easily decipher programmatic data and information. CalDGStats will also provide dynamic filters on each figure and graph, allowing users to break down a specific data set and examine it from different viewpoints while also being available to download in spreadsheet format in compliance with privacy laws and regulations.

A. <u>Data Collection and Reporting Requirements (Including Report Format)</u>

The SOMAH Program will collect information on several data points, including but not limited to the following:

- Number of applications received;
- Number of applications accepted;
- Incentives paid;
- Capacity and estimated production of PV systems;
- Total system cost in \$/kilowatt before subsidy;
- Progress of installations;
- Applications by geographic area;
- Average number of bids received per project (if applicable);
- The contractor used;
- Administrative expenditures;
- Number of households served
- Estimated aggregated tenant economic benefits;
- Number of unique job trainees;
- Total number of job trainee hours;
- Number of local contractors and subcontractors hired;
- Number of jobs generated;
- Number of local jobs generated;

- Number of participants that leverage SOMAH technical assistance services;
- Number of referrals to other energy programs;
- Number of participants that leverage other energy programs;
- Estimated carbon emissions reduced.

Most of the data points noted above will be inputted into CalDGStats and presented as a graph or table. However, other data collected through the program, namely administrative expenditures, will be collected via the SOMAH PA's internal billing process and reported via the Semi-Annual Expense Report (SAER).

B. Semi-Annual Expense Report (SAER)

The SAER will capture all program administration expenses via predetermined categories²⁹ that pertain to the SOMAH program funds that may be used for administrative expenses. The SAER will also be used to track proceeds from the sale of GHG allowances allocated to California's IOUs through California's Cap-and-Trade Program and balance program expenditures against them and alongside interim targets and capacity goals. In addition, the SAER will capture all internal SOMAH PA program administration, workforce development, technical assistance, marketing, education and outreach, Commission expenses, and IOU expenses. The SAER will be posted twice per year to the CalDGStats website.

C. <u>Identification of Incentives Awarded to Each Eligibility Grouping</u>

AB 693 provides two criteria for eligibility for participation in the SOMAH Program: 1) location of the property within a Disadvantaged Community (DAC), or 2) meeting the income criteria for at least 80% of tenant households.³⁰ While the Commission did not specifically structure the program to allocate incentives between DAC eligible properties and affordability-level eligible properties, it does require the SOMAH PA to track participation and identify the amount of incentives awarded to each grouping on an annual basis.³¹

In order to accurately determine the participation of either DAC eligible or income level eligible projects, the SOMAH PA will track project addresses through the SOMAH online application database and cross-reference them against CalEnviroScreen 3.0. This data will then be reported CalDGStats website. The SOMAH PA will make visible and update weekly the incentive budgets and remaining funds for each IOU service area with dedicated graphs and tables located on the CalDGStats website. Information will include available funding, incentives reserved, current incentive rates, as well as MWs reserved and installed, and MWs remaining to reach program goals.

_

²⁹ The SOMAH program contains four parent cost categories, which are: Program Administration, Marketing, Education and Outreach, Workforce Development and Technical Assistance.

³⁰ See D.17-12-022 at 13 ("80% of property residents must have incomes at or below 60% of the area median income as determined by the DHCD").

³¹ *Id*. at 39.

IX. Supplier Diversity Rules

California Public Utilities Code (PUC) Sections 8281-8286 direct the Commission to require utility providers, their regulated subsidiaries and affiliates to submit annual detailed and verifiable plans for increasing women-owned, minority-owned, disabled veteran-owned and LGBT-owned business enterprises (WMDVLGBTBE) procurement in all categories.

The SOMAH PA is not a utility provider, regulated subsidiary, nor affiliate of SCE and is therefore not required to file a diversity plan with the Commission per PUC Sections 8281-8286. Additionally, the SOMAH PA is comprised of nonprofit public benefit corporations that do not qualify for WMDVLGBTBE status under PUC Sections 8281-8286. The SOMAH PA subcontractors also do not qualify for WMDVLGBTBE status.³² Thus, the SOMAH PA team is not a SCE recognized diverse business enterprise and does not contribute to SCE's supplier diversity goals.

Although Supplier Diversity Rules are not applicable to this implementation plan, the SOMAH PA remains committed to the intent and purpose of PUC Sections 8281-8286. We note that the SOMAH PA's ME&O efforts are intended to target historically underrepresented groups and increase diverse participation in the SOMAH Program. Furthermore, SOMAH's emphasis on quality local job recruitment should result in increased access to employment opportunities for diverse groups across California. The SOMAH PA looks forward to assisting historically disadvantaged communities gain access to cleaner, more affordable energy.

X. <u>Interim Targets for Capacity Goals</u>

The SOMAH program is required to provide incentives for at least 300 MW of installed solar PV by December 31, 2030. To assess how many projects are required to meet the SOMAH program's target of 300 MW, the SOMAH PA relied on average system size in past MASH Program application data, then compared this data against different scenarios based on tenant versus common area solar PV production and allocation. The results were then applied over 10 years to determine what the typical incentives payouts are expected to be for each project. The SOMAH PA also considered the historical number of LIHTC projects financed in California to help understand what percent of all SOMAH projects are likely to receive lesser incentives. Additionally, the SOMAH PA assumed that every project would take the Federal Investment Tax Credit (ITC) until its expected expiration in 2021.

Based on MASH Program data, the average SOMAH project size will likely be approximately 78 kW of installed capacity. Incorporating this average project size into the SOMAH PA's modeling methodology reveals SOMAH will need to average 383 projects per year over the full ten years of the program to meet the 300 MW capacity goal by 2030. Since the SOMAH program allows

³² The SOMAH PA subcontractors are: Rising Sun Energy Center, Energy Solutions, Clean Power Research, Asian Pacific Environmental Network (APEN), Communities for a Better Environment (CBE), California Environmental Justice Alliance (CEJA), and the Environmental Health Coalition (EHC).

for variability in how a system might serve tenant and common load, the SOMAH PA developed two bookend scenarios that helped determine minimum and maximum incentive payments needed to meet annual capacity goals.

The two bookend scenarios consist of: 1) 100% tenant allocation to show the maximum amount of incentives needed to reach program goals; and 2) 51% tenant allocation, which is the minimum amount of incentives needed to reach program goals per the Decision. Based on prior participation levels in MASH, the SOMAH PA expects that most SOMAH projects will apportion 51% of their load to tenants. Under these two scenarios, the estimated maximum installed MW per year are as follows:

Estimated Maximum MWs Installed Per Year

Year	100% Tenant Load (MW)	51% Tenant Load (MW)
2019	37	54
2020	39	57
2021	41	60
2022	30	45
2023	32	47
2024	34	50
2025	36	52
2026	37	55
2027	39	58
2028	41	61
TOTAL	367	539

The SOMAH PA's modeling also indicates that the amount of budget needed to reach the 300MW goal is potentially less than the maximum \$90M annual incentive collection authorized by AB 693. Using the prior bookend scenarios, the annual incentives needed per year are as follows:

Estimated Incentive Funding Needed to Reach 300 MW Goal

Year	100% Tenant Load	51% Tenant Load
2019	\$65,550,000	\$44,896,500
2020	\$62,340,000	\$42,686,100
2021	\$59,130,000	\$40,475,700
2022	\$79,770,000	\$54,133,200
2023	\$75,960,000	\$51,602,100
2024	\$72,180,000	\$48,968,700
2025	\$68,400,000	\$46,467,600
2026	\$64,920,000	\$44,119,500
2027	\$61,710,000	\$41,909,100
2028	\$58,800,000	\$39,851,700
TOTAL	\$668,760,000	\$455,110,200

The tables above suggest that the SOMAH program has authorized sufficient funding to hit the minimum 300 MW target by 2030. However, additional factors may affect the SOMAH program's progress in reaching or surpassing the 300 MW goal.

It should be noted that the MASH Program in its most productive year (2011) installed 131 solar systems, and a total of 89 systems from 2015-2017 (according to CalDGStats). The SOMAH program will therefore need to incentivize three to five times more projects annually than MASH to reach the SOMAH program capacity target.

The SOMAH PA's ability to meet program targets assumes that the incentive levels authorized by the Commission will be sufficient to encourage high participation in the program, and that the SOMAH program's statutorily mandated tenant benefit requirements will have little to no impact on participation levels. Thus, the SOMAH PA will closely monitor program progress and advise on any potential barriers that could prevent obtaining the 300 MW goal.

XI. Standardized Bidding Form and Online Tool

From a consumer protection standpoint, it is important that participating property owners/operators receive project information in a clear, standardized format that helps ensure they understand the costs and benefits of the incentivized system. To this end, an objective of the SOMAH program is to provide property owners/operators with clear, comprehensive bids for projects with all costs and benefits apparent to ensure high-quality solar systems are installed in a cost-competitive manner. To ensure property owners/operators are receiving the best value possible, the SOMAH program will institute a process to obtain multiple project bids for customers that require additional Upfront Technical Assistance, pursuant to the Program Handbook.³³

The SOMAH PA will develop and implement the framework for property owners/operators who require Upfront Technical Assistance to receive multiple bids via an online bidding portal or a paper bidding form. The multiple bidding process will be standardized, with bids formatted to facilitate an "apples to apples" comparison using a neutral scoring methodology. The bid sheet template will include project cost information and auxiliary services and benefits as further described in the Program Handbook, 34 such as workforce development, local hiring and energy storage capabilities. Once contractors have attended and completed a Contractor Eligibility Workshop, 35 they will receive a copy of the bid sheet template and be added to the online bidding portal.

When an eligible property first engages with the SOMAH program, it will be determined if the Host Customer is ready to proceed with an eligible contractor (Track B), or would instead like to receive upfront technical assistance (Track A), which includes the requirement the property participate in the multiple bidding process. Projects proceeding with upfront technical assistance and the multiple bidding process will have an opportunity to obtain and review the bids, and select a contractor, before submitting a Reservation Request. At the Reservation Request Review, the SOMAH PA will reach out to the Host Customer directly to collect the three bids. If the Host Customer received the bids in the eligible format, the SOMAH PA will collect the bids and attach them to the SOMAH online application database. If the Host Customer did not receive at least three bids, or if the bids were not received from an eligible SOMAH contractor or in the eligible format, the Host Customer will be directed to the online bidding portal where they can access more bids. The Host Customer will have 20 days to submit the multiple bids or their application will be cancelled.

Projects in Track B are not required to participate in the multiple bidding process. However, the Host Customer will be provided information about the availability of the multiple bid portal and the option to participate or decline the multiple bidding process.

³⁵ All contractors must attend and complete a Contractor Eligibility Workshop before participating in the SOMAH program.

³³ See SOMAH Program Handbook, October 1, 2018, Section 4, Application Process.

³⁴ Id.

Project cost and bidding information will be made public in the aggregate, thus increasing the public information around costs in this sector.

XII. Coordination with Investor Owned Utilities

A. Data Collection

The SOMAH PA will work closely with each participating IOU to create a safe and efficient process for the transfer of data for program administration purposes. A Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) between the SOMAH PA and participating IOUs will be executed that describes the type of data needed to fulfill the SOMAH PAs obligation in administering the program. The NDA is intended to manage the provisions of confidential customer information between the SOMAH PA and the IOU in accordance with the Decision.

B. Invoicing for Incentives:

The SOMAH PA will structure contracts for the transfer of incentive funding with each participating IOU. These contracts will outline the framework for incentive transfer to the PA.

XIII. Marketing, Education & Outreach

Participation from diverse communities across California is critical to the success of the SOMAH program. The SOMAH PA will continually engage a broad selection of stakeholders, including utilities, housing organizations, community-based organizations and tenant advocates to promote the SOMAH program and encourage eligible parties to participate. In addition, the SOMAH PA will work with housing owners to ensure that tenants in participating properties receive the information they need to maximize benefits and understand the implications of time of use (TOU) rates.³⁶

A. Submittal of Annual ME&O Plans

The SOMAH PA will submit a detailed program launch plan, budget, and copies of marketing materials to the CPUC's Energy Division within 60 days of the Tier 3 Advice Letter Program Handbook approval. In addition, the PA will submit an annual marketing plan that includes activities proposed for the next year, a year-in-review of the activities completed in the current year, as well as the subcontractors engaged to complete the activities. All marketing plans will be released to the service list for public review and comment prior to posting on the CalDGStats website.

³⁶ D.17-12-022 at 20, "Given the statutory requirements to provide protection from rate changes we find it reasonable to exempt participating tenants from the requirement applying to other customers using the NEM successor tariff to take service under a TOU rate."

B. Target Audiences

SOMAH marketing will target two key audiences to ensure broad and diverse participation: 1) owners and operators of multifamily affordable housing, and 2) solar contractors. Audience-appropriate marketing tactics will be used for each of the three audiences, including culturally and linguistically appropriate education and outreach at the community level.

C. Marketing Tactics

1. Program Website

The SOMAH PA will develop and maintain a comprehensive program website with the following key components:

- Program overview and searchable Handbook
- Multilingual educational resources for affordable housing providers, contractors, and tenants
- Information for job seekers and hiring contractors, including a job board
- Application process, requirements and Program interest form
- Comprehensive list of stakeholder email addresses to receive recurring SOMAH information
- Program data and reporting tied to CalDGStats website

2. Workshops and Conferences

The SOMAH PA will host audience-specific periodic workshops to educate affordable housing owners, contractors. In addition, the SOMAH PA will table at several annual conferences to engage with potential participants and provide speakers relevant to key SOMAH audiences.

3. Network-based Marketing

The SOMAH PA will utilize the team's extensive affordable housing provider and solar contractor networks to promote the SOMAH program using various methods of communication.

4. Coordination with Existing Services

The SOMAH PA will coordinate with related service providers including energy efficiency programs, utilities, government agencies, solar and storage associations and nonprofits to market SOMAH to affordable housing audiences.

5. Community-based Outreach and Education

The SOMAH PA will subcontract with community-based organizations to provide culturally and linguistically appropriate outreach to the communities they serve, with a focus on tenants, other community organizations, job training organizations

and local affordable housing providers. The contracted organizations will rotate on an annual basis to ensure broad geographic and demographic coverage.

6. Media

The SOMAH PA will engage statewide, industry-specific and community-based media outlets to promote the program launch and ongoing successes, as well as social media.

D. <u>Progress Assessments</u>

The SOMAH PA will assess the success of its marketing strategies based on the number of program applicants, geographic spread and diversity of SOMAH program participation. Assessments will be conducted on a quarterly basis and strategies adjusted accordingly. Community-based organizations subcontracted to assist with ME&O will also be required to submit quarterly assessments to the SOMAH PA. An analysis and discussion of strategy adjustments will be included in each annual marketing plan submitted.

E. <u>Direct Outreach to Affordable Housing Providers</u>

The SOMAH PA team will conduct a multifamily affordable housing market characterization study to inform direct outreach efforts to affordable housing providers in addition to the above marketing tactics. The market characterization study will include a list of potentially-eligible multifamily low-income properties with deed restrictions.

The SOMAH PA will identify and connect with affordable housing owners and operators to provide a program overview, review the housing provider's portfolio to help identify all eligible properties in their portfolio and assist housing providers to apply for the program.

F. <u>Tenant Education</u>

Properties participating in SOMAH will be required to educate their tenants about the solar project and its benefits or impact on them. The SOMAH PA will create a tenant engagement toolkit for housing owners with multilingual educational resources. IOUs will have the opportunity to review and provide suggestions for the materials to be distributed in their respective service territory. Resources will include:

- Information on the project, including timeline;
- Solar and energy efficiency education, including programs available to tenants;
- TOU Rate Fact Sheet and information on energy bill impacts, developed in collaboration with the relevant utility;
- Information on workforce development opportunities.

The SOMAH PA will evaluate the effectiveness of the education strategy and resources provided based on direct feedback from utilities. Feedback regarding the effectiveness of the education strategy and resources provided from affordable housing providers, tenants and community-based organizations will be garnered through direct outreach and surveys. The

SOMAH PA will track program website volume, and the volume and type of calls that are made to the program's tenant hotline.

XIV. Conflict of Interest Policy for SOMAH PA Team Members

The SOMAH PA is committed to preventing any actual conflicts of interest and avoiding any potential conflicts of interest that could arise through the administration and implementation of the program. This section provides an overview of the SOMAH PA's approach and the processes to be implemented to prevent any actual conflicts of interest and avoid any potential conflicts of interest in the performance of program tasks. This section also describes a future public reporting process for any known or alleged conflicts of interest.

A. Background

The success of the SOMAH program is predicated, in part, on having a fair, open, and transparent solar project development market. In order for this to occur, it is necessary to ensure that all program participants, including project developers, have equal access to all relevant program and project information. Furthermore, it must be ensured that no program participant or project developer receives any special advantage, recommendation, or information to which the public does not have access from any member of the SOMAH PA. Apart from ensuring no special advantage or recommendation is actually received, it is also important to prevent the perception that any program participant or project developer could have received a special advantage, recommendation, or information to which the public does not have access.

In the Decision, the Commission required applicants for the PA role to delineate any possible conflicts of interest in RFP responses, particularly in relation to a PA member's potential role as both a program participant and as a PA; and, propose safeguards to ensure their PA role does not confer on them any unfair advantage as a program participant or interfere with the creation of an open and competitive market.

B. Conflict of Interest Policy

In its RFP response, the SOMAH PA described known and potential conflicts of interest and developed a conflict of interest policy that includes a protocol for identifying, preventing, and avoiding any actual or potential conflicts of interest. Each PA team member with known or alleged conflicts of interest is required to submit a detailed plan to comply with the policy, subject to approval by the PA team members with no identified actual or potential conflict of interest.

The conflict of interest policy addresses three primary areas for the PA team members, as described below:

1. Physical Separation

No PA team member has, through physical proximity, the opportunity to share information of a competitive nature that is not available to the public concerning SOMAH program implementation (including with respect to TA Services) with any person or entity other than persons working on the PA Team and affordable housing owners.

2. Electronic Separation

All systems and databases to be used in the SOMAH program will be proprietary to the SOMAH PA operations and segregated and protected in such a way as to prevent access to proprietary information by any PA team member with a perceived or actual conflict of interest and/or any potential program participant. This includes, but is not limited to: online application database, project development and cost information, Salesforce, and any other platforms, tools, or resources that will be utilized in the SOMAH Program.

3. Identity Separation

Once the SOMAH program launches, there will be a branding and communication regime that ensures the SOMAH PA functions and communicates as one entity and will not be represented as the individual organizations that comprise the SOMAH PA. This branding and communication regime will address all public-facing branding and communications in all media and contexts, including, but not limited to, websites, marketing and program description materials, application forms, electronic communications of all types, including, but not limited to, email and social media, print, news coverage, PR, business cards, and statements made the public.

C. Public Resources

In the forthcoming website revamp to coincide with program launch, the SOMAH PA will make available to the public additional information regarding its conflict of interest policy and related procedures as well as a dedicated space and defined process for any member of the public to report known and potential conflicts of interest. All alleged conflicts of interest reported by members of the public will be investigated by the PA team members with no identified actual or potential conflict of interest, with results and details shared with the CPUC Energy Division and stakeholders.

The SOMAH PA has implemented these protocols to ensure conflicts of interest will be avoided throughout the duration of the SOMAH program. In addition to the elements described here, the SOMAH PA team members will follow all related existing laws and standards.

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Develop a Successor to Existing Net Energy Metering Tariffs Pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section 2827.1, and to Address Other Issues Related to Net Energy Metering.

RULEMAKING 14-07-002 (Filed July 10, 2014)

Application of Southern California Edison Company (U338E), San Diego Gas & Electric Company (U902E) and the Natural Resources Defense Council for Rehearing of Resolution E-4792.

Application 16-07-015

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have this day served a copy of this *CSE Advice Letter 92-A / GRID Alternatives 12-A*, on all known parties of record in this proceeding by delivering a copy via email to the current service list for R.14-07-002, A.16-07-015 (consolidated) or by delivering a copy via U.S. First Class mail to those members of the current service list for R.14-07-002, A.16-07-015 (consolidated) with no or undeliverable email addresses.

Executed on April 9, 2019, in San Diego, CA.

Kinshuk Chatterjee

Regulatory Analyst

Center for Sustainable Energy®

Whattejee

3980 Sherman St., Suite 170

San Diego, CA 92110

Tel: (858) 244-1177

kinshuk.chatterjee@energycenter.org



CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION Service Lists

PROCEEDING: R1407002 - CPUC - OIR TO DEVELO

FILER: CPUC LIST NAME: LIST

LAST CHANGED: APRIL 4, 2019

Download the Comma-delimited File
About Comma-delimited Files

Back to Service Lists Index

Parties

DAVID RUNSTEN
POLICY DIRECTOR

CALIF. CLIMATE AND AGRICULTURE NETWORK

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: COMMUNITY ALLIANCE WITH FAMILY

FARMERS (CAFF)

GREGORY S. G. KLATT

ATTORNEY

DOUGLASS & LIDDELL

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: WAL-MART STORES, INC. / SAM'S

WEST, INC.; UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

(UC)

HOWARD CHOY

GEN. MGR., OFFICE OF SUSTAINABILITY

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA REGIONAL

ENERGY NETWORK (SCREN)

JOSHUA NELSON

ASSOCIATE

BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: INLAND EMPIRE UTILITIES AGENCY / PADRE DAM MUNICIPAL DISTRICT / RANCHO CALIFORNIA WATER DISTRICT / TERRA VERDE RENEWABLE PARTNERS / VALLEY CENTER

MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT

KELLY DAMEWOOD POLICY DIR.

CALIFORNIA CERTIFIED ORGANIC FARMERS

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: CALIFORNIA CERTIFIED ORGANIC

FARMERS (CCOF)

MADELINE STANO ENERGY LEGAL COUNSEL THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE

ROBERT GNAIZDA GENERAL COUNSEL

NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: THE NATIONAL DIVERSITY COALITION

SEPHRA A. NINOW

ASSOC. DIR - REGULATORY AFFAIRS CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY (CSE)

ABRAHAM SILVERMAN

BRANDON SMITHWOOD

ASSIST. GEN. COUNSEL - REGULATORY NRG ENERGY, INC.

211 CARNEGIE CENTER DRIVE PRINCETON, NJ 08540 FOR: NRG ENERGY, INC

POLICY DIR COALITION FOR COMMUNITY SOLAR ACCESS PO BOX 65491

WASHINGTON, DC 20035 FOR: COAITION FOR COMMUNITY SOLAR

ACCESS (CCSA)

DENNIS EMBERLING SOLAR CONSUMER ADVISOR, LLC 5548 TROUSDALE DRIVE BRENTWOOD, TN 37027

FOR: SOLAR CONSUMER ADVISOR, LLC

CARLOS A. H. VAQUERANO EXECUTIVE DIR. SALVADORAN AMERICAN LEADERSHIP 1625 WEST OLYMPIC BLVD. LOS ANGELES, CA 90015 FOR: SALVADORIAN AMERICAN LEADERSHIP

HOWARD CHOY GENERAL MGR. COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES OFFICE OF SUSTAINABILITY 1100 NORTH EASTERN AVENUE LOS ANGELES, CA 90063

FOR: LOCAL GOVERNMENT SUSTAINABLE

ENERGY COALITION (LGSEC)

ANDREW MANNLE VP - STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PROMISE ENERGY, INC. 8695 WASHINGTON BLVD., STE. 205 CULVER CITY, CA 90232 FOR: PROMISE ENERGY, INC.

AND EDUCATIONAL FUND (SALEF)

JESSALYN TSHTGO ENVIRONMENTAL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OFF. AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR CO., INC. 1919 TORRANCE BLVD. TORRANCE, CA 90501

FOR: AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR COMAPNY, INC.

BRADLEY L. BARTZ **PRESIDENT** ABC SOLAR INCORPORATED 24454 HAWTHORNE BLVD TORRANCE, CA 90505 FOR: ABC SOLAR INC.

DANIEL W. DOUGLASS

DOUGLASS & LIDDELL

DONNA SIMMRIN

ATTORNEY

TONJA WICKS TLW LEGAL & GOV'T. SUPPORT SVCS. 5318 E. 2ND STREET, NO.703 LONG BEACH, CA 90803

FOR: TLW LEGAL AND GOVERNMENT SUPPORT SERVICES

4766 PARK GRANADA, SUITE 209 CALABASAS, CA 91302 FOR: ALLIANCE FOR RETAIL ENERGY MARKETS (AREM)

REBECCA MEIERS-DE PASTINO SR. ATTORNEY SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE / PO BOX 800 ROSEMEAD, CA 91770 FOR: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

VP - COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMUNITY ADVANCEMENT DEVELOPMENT 5835 AVENIDA ENCINAS CARLSBAD, CA 92008 FOR: COMMUNITY ADVANCEMENT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

G. ANDREW BLAUVELT COUNSEL THE MASH COALITION 5835 AVENIDA ENCINAS, STE. 116 CARLSBAD, CA 92008 FOR: MULTIFAMILY AFFORDABLE SOLAR HOMES COALITION (THE MASH COALITION): AFF'D. HSG. GRP., BAYVIEW COMM. DEV'T., CESAR CHAVEZ FNDN., CHELSEA INV. CORP., COMM. HSG. WORKS, COMM ADV. CORP., COMM. CORP. OF STA. MONICA, CORE BLDRS., EAH HSNG., EVERYDAY ENERGY, I.G. PRTNRS., LP, LEVY AFF., LINC HSG., MANY MANSIONS, SD YOUTH SVCS., STD. PROPERTY CO., THE RELIANT GRP., URBAN HSG. COMM., VITUS GRP., WAKELAND HSG.

SCOTT SAREM CO-FOUNDER/CEO **EVERYDAY ENERGY** 5865 AVENIDA ENCINAS, STE 142A CARLSBAD, CA 92008 FOR: EVERYDAY ENERGY

FREDERICK M. ORTLIEB DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY CITY OF SAN DIEGO 1200 THIRD AVENUE, SUITE 1100 E. GREGORY BARNES **ATTORNEY** SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, BLDG 3. CP32D SAN DIEGO, CA 92101 FOR: CITY OF SAN DIEGO

KENNETH SAHM WHITE
ECONOMICS & POLICY ANALYSIS DIR
CLEAN COALITION
16 PALM CT.
MENLO PARK, CA 94025
FOR: CLEAN COALITION

ELLISON FOLK ATTORNEY SHUTE, MIHALY & WEINBERGER LLP 396 HAYES STREET SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102 FOR: INTERSTATE RENEWABLE ENERGY

COUNCIL (IREC)

CHRISTOPHER CLAY
CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
LEGAL DIVISION
ROOM 4300
505 VAN NESS AVENUE
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214
FOR: ORA

JAMES GROW
NATIONAL HOUSING LAW PROJECT
703 MARKET ST., STE. 2000
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103
FOR: NATIONAL HOUSING LAW PROJECT

PETER MILLER
SR. SCIENTIST
NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL
111 SUTTER STREET, 20TH FL.
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94104
FOR: NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL

BRIAN T. CRAGG ATTORNEY GOODIN, MACBRIDE, SQUERI & DAY, LLP 505 SANSOME ST., STE. 900 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111 FOR: INDEPENDENT ENERGY PRODUCERS ASSOCIATION (IEPA)

STEVE SHERR
SVP BUSINESS AFFAIRS & GEN. COUNSEL
FOUNDATION WINDPOWER, LLC
505 SANSOME STREET, STE 450
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111
FOR: FOUNDATION WINDPOWER, LLC

RITA M. LIOTTA
FEDERAL EXECUTIVE AGENCIES
1 AVENUE OF THE PALM, SUITE 161
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94130
FOR: FEDERAL EXECUTIVE AGENCIES

CATHLEEN MONAHAN SR. PROGRAMS DIR. SAN DIEGO, CA 92123 FOR: SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

MARC D. JOSEPH
ATTORNEY AT LAW
ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO
601 GATEWAY BLVD. STE 1000
SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94080
FOR: THE COALITION OF CALIFORNIA
UTILITY EMPLOYEES (CCUE)

CHRISTA SALO
CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
LEGAL DIVISION
ROOM 4107
505 VAN NESS AVENUE
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214
FOR: PUBLIC ADVOCATES OFFICE

EDDIE H. AHN
BRIGHTLINE DEFENSE PROJECT
1028A HOWARD STREET
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103
FOR: BRIGHTLINE DEFENSE PROJECT

MATTHEW FREEDMAN
STAFF ATTORNEY
THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK
785 MARKET STREET, 14TH FL
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103
FOR: TURN

RANDALL J. LITTENEKER, ESQ. ATTORNEY PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, MC B30A / PO BOX 7442 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105 FOR: PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

JEANNE B. ARMSTRONG ATTORNEY GOODIN MACBRIDE SQUERI & DAY LLP 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111 FOR: SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION

VIDHYA PRABHAKARAN ATTORNEY DAVIS WRIGHT & TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111 FOR: PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY (PCE)

GOPAL SHANKER
PRESIDENT
RECOLTE ENERGY
410 LAFATA STREET, SUITE 102
ST. HELENA, CA 94574
FOR: RECOLTE ENERGY

ALISON SEEL ASSOCIATE ATTORNEY **GRID ALTERNATIVES** 1171 OCEAN AVENUE, SUITE 200 OAKLAND, CA 94608

FOR: GRID ALTERNATIVES

SIERRA CLUB 2101 WEBSTER ST., STE. 1300

OAKLAND, CA 94612 FOR: SIERRA CLUB

JASON B. KEYES **PARTNER** KEYES & FOX LLP 436 14TH ST., STE.1305 OAKLAND, CA 94612

FOR: ENERGY FREEDOM COALITION OF

AMERICA, LLC

SUBIN G. DEVAR COMMUNITY RENEWABLE ENERGY DIR. SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIES LAW CENTER 1428 FRANKLIN ST OAKLAND, CA 94612

FOR: SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIES LAW CENTER

TIM LINDL COUNSEL KEYES & FOX LLP 436 14TH STREET, STE. 1305 OAKLAND, CA 94612 FOR: THE ALLIANCE FOR SOLAR CHOICE

(TASC)

ALEX MORRIS SR. DIR., POLICY & REGULATORY AFFAIRS CALIFORNIA ENERGY STORAGE ALLIANCE 2150 ALLSTON WAY, SUITE 210 BERKELEY, CA 94704 FOR: CALIFORNIA ENERGY STORAGE ALLIANCE (CESA)

AMY ALLEN MEMBER, STEERING COMMITTEE 350 BAY AREA 2511 HEARST AVE., NO. 305 BERKELEY, CA 94709

FOR: 350 BAY AREA STEERING COMMITTEE

JEAN WOO CUSTOM POWER SOLAR 1442A WALNUT STREET, NO. 368 BERKELEY, CA 94709 FOR: CUSTOM POWER SOLAR

SHANA LAZEROW ATTORNEY COMMUNITIES FOR A BETTER ENVIRONMENT 120 BROADWAY, SUITE 2 RICHMOND, CA 94804 FOR: CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE

ALLIANCE

SHALINI SWAROOP REGULATORY & LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 1125 TAMALPAIS AVENUE SAN RAFAEL, CA 94901 FOR: MARIN CLEAN ENERGY

MICHAEL E. BOYD PRESIDENT CALIFORNIANS FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY, INC. 5439 SOQUEL DRIVE SOQUEL, CA 95073 FOR: CALIFORNIANS FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY,

INC. (CARE)

TIM MCRAE SILICON VALLEY LEADERSHIP GROUP 2001 GATEWAY PLACE, STE. 101E SAN JOSE, CA 95110 FOR: SILICON VALLEY LEADERSHIP GROUP

STEVEN S. SHUPE GENERAL COUNSEL SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY 50 SANTA ROSA AVE., 5TH FL. SANTA ROSA, CA 95404 FOR: SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY (SCPA)

COALITION OF ENERGY USERS 1220 MELODY LANE, NO. 110 ROSEVILLE, CA 95678 FOR: COALITION OF ENERGY USERS

ERIC S. EISENHAMMER

BRAD HEAVNER POLICY DIRECTOR CALIFORNIA SOLAR & STORAGE ASSCIATION 1107 9TH ST., SUITE 820 SACRMENTO, CA 95814 FOR: CALIFORNIA SOLAR & STORAGE ASSOCIATIN (CALSSA) F/K/A CALIFORNIA SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION (CSEIA) (CALSEIA)

JOSHUA NELSON **ATTORNEY** BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP 500 CAPITOL MALL, STE. 1700 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 FOR: SAN BERNARDINO VALLEY MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT

JOSHUA NELSON ATTORNEY BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP 500 CAPITOL MALL, SUITE 1700 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 FOR: SWEETWATER AUTHORITY

JUSTIN WYNNE BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN & SMITH, P.C. 915 L STREET, SUITE 1480 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 FOR: CALIFORNIA MUNICIPAL UTILITIES

ASSOCIATION (MCUA)

LAURA FERNANDEZ ATTORNEY

BRAUN BLAISING SMITH WYNNE, P.C. 915 L STREET, STE 1480

SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 FOR: CITY OF LANCASTER

MICHAEL BOCCADORO WEST COAST ADVISORS 925 L STREET, STE. 800 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

FOR: AGRICULTURAL ENERGY CONSUMERS

ASSOCIATION (AECA)

RONALD LIEBERT ATTORNEY AT LAW ELLISON SCHNEIDER HARRIS & DONLAN LLP

2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, STE. 400 SACRAMENTO, CA 95816

FOR: VOTE SOLAR

JENNIFER FARRELL ENERGY & SUSTAINABILITY UNIT

CALIF DEPT OF CORRECTIONS & REHAB 9838 OLD PLACERVILLE RD., STE. B

SACRAMENTO, CA 95827

REHABILITATION (CDCR)

MATTHEW KLOPFENSTEIN

ATTORNEY

GONZALEZ, QUINTANA, HUNTER & CRUZ, LLC

915 L STREET, STE. 1270 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 FOR: NLINE ENERGY, INC.

JITH MEGANATHAN

ATTORNEY

LAW OFFICES OF JITH MEGANATHAN, P.C.

770 L STREET, STE. 950 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814-3325

FOR: CALIFORNIA LOW-INCOME CONSUMER

COALITION (CLICC)

JEDEDIAH J. GIBSON

ATTORNEY

ELLISON SCHNEIDER HARRIS & DONLAN LLP 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400

SACRAMENTO, CA 95816-5931

FOR: PACIFICORP

KAREN NORENE MILLS

ATTORNEY

CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION

2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE SACRAMENTO, CA 95833

FOR: CALIFORNIA DEPT OF CORRECTIONS AND FOR: CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION

LIBERTY UTILITIES LLC (FORMERLY CALPECO)

933 ELOISE AVENUE

SOUTH LAKE TAHOE, CA 96150

FOR: LIBERTY UTILITIES LLC (CALPECO

ELECTRIC LLC)

Information Only

AARON (YICHEN) LU PROGRAM COORDINATOR

CITY OF SAN DIEGO EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

AIMEE SMITH

SR. REGULATORY COUNSEL

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

ANDREW ACE EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC

ANDY BLAUVELT

MULTIFAMILY AFFORDABLE SOLAR HOMES

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

BRIAN THEAKER

ANDREW SCHWARTZ

TESLA, INC.

EMAIL ONLY

DIR - REGULATORY AFFAIRS

NRG ENERGY, INC.

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

C. C. SONG CARMELITA L. MILLER LEGAL COUNSEL

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

SR. POLICY ANALYST MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000 CASE COORDINATION

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

CATHERINE BUCKLEY

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

CATHIE ALLEN REGULATORY MGR.

PACIFICORP

EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY, OR 00000

CHRISTA LIM ATTORNEY AT LAW

SAN DIEGO GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

COLLIN TATEISHI

SUSTAINABLE HOUSING POLICY ANALYST

CALIFORNIA HOUSING PARYNERSHIP

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

CURT BARRY

SR WRITER / EDITOR

INSIDE WASHINGTON PUBLISHERS

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

DAMON FRANZ

DIRECTOR - POLICY & ELECTRICITY MARKETS

TESLA, INC. EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

DANA GOLAN

MANAGER- CUSTOMER PRICING

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

DANIEL SULLIVAN
FOUNDER/PRESIDENT

SULLIVAN SOLAR POWER

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

DAVID HUANG LEGAL FELLOW

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

DONALD LIDDELL

DOUGLASS & LIDDELL

EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000 EBCE REGULATORY

EAST BAY COMMUNITY ENERGY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

ELI HARLAND

CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION

ENERGY RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT DIV.

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

ENRIQUE GALLARDO STAFF COUNSEL

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: PUBLIC ADVOCATES OFFICE (FORMERLY

ORA)

ERANDI RATNAYAKE

PROGRAM COORDINATOR
GRID ALTERNATIVES

EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

HANNA GRENE

CENTER FOR SUSTAINBLE ENERGY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

JAMES HANSELL NAVIGANT CONSULTING

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

JASON PERKINS EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

JESSICA YIP

ONGRID SOLAR

EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000 JIM STEVENS

RENEWABLE ENERGY PARTNERS, LLC

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

JIMI NETNISS

MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

KAREY CHRIST-JANER

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CO 00000

KARL R. RABAGO EXEC. DIR.- PACE ENERGY & CLIMATE CENTER CPUC

PACE UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF LAW

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

LEGAL DIVISION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

MARGOT EVERETT

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

MARIA STAMAS

LEGAL FELLOW, ENERGY PROGRAM NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

MARK ROEST

SEA WAVE BATTERY, INC.

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

MCE REGULATORY MARIN CLEAN ENERGY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

MOHIT CHHABRA

SCIENTIST

NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

NIHAR SHAH CLO & CO-FOUNDER

ONPACE ENERGY SOLUTIONS, LLC

EMAIL O NLY

EMAIL ONL Y, CA 00000

NORA HAWKINS REGULATORY ANALYST

CPUC EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

OMAR MELO EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

PATRICK HENNIGAN

EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC

RICK UMOFF

COUNSEL & DIR - STATE AFFAIRS SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

SCOTT MURTISHAW

CALIFORNIA SOLAR & STORAGE ASSOCIATION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

SHARON YANG

DIRECTOR OF LEGAL SERVICES LIBERTY UTILITIES (WEST REGION)

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, AA 00000

SOPITSUDA TONGSOPIT

RENEWABLE ENERGY POLICY CONSULTANT

USAID CLEAN POWER ASIA

SUITE 501 ABDUL RAHIM PLACE, 5TH FL.

BANGKOK THAILAND, FM 00000

STEPHEN LUDWICK ZIMMER PARTNERS

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

STEVEN RYMSHA

DIR - GRID SOLUTIONS, PUBLIC POLICY

SUNRUN INC. EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, AA 00000

SUSANNAH CHURCHILL SOLAR POLICY ADVOCATE

VOTE SOLAR

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

TADASHI GONDAI

SR. ATTORNEY / DIR OF LEGAL AFFAIRS NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FOR: THE NATIONAL DIVERSITY COALITION

TED JAMES

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

MRW & ASSOCIATES LLC

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

CAMERON-DANIEL, P.C.

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

BENJAMIN AIRTH CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY EMAIL ONLY

EAMIL ONLY, CA 00000-0000

STAINABLE ENERGY PACIFIC
EMAIL (
4 00000-0000 EMAIL (

JOHN W. LESLIE, ESQ.
PARTNER
DENTONS US LLP
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000-0000

MICHAEL DANDURAND LNZ CAPTIAL, LP 411 LAFAYETTE STREET NEW YORK, NY 10003

KATHARINE MARVIN BAYS HEIGHT SERCURITIES 1775 PENNSYLVANIA AVE, NW, 11TH FLR WASHINGTON, DC 20017

KAY DAVOODI
ACQ-UTILITY RATES AND STUDIES OFFICE
NAVAL FACILITIES ENGINEERING COMMAND HQ
1322 PATTERSON AV. SE, BLDG 33, STE 1000
WASHINGTON NAVY YARD, DC 20374-5065

STEVEN HEWITSON TROUTMAN SANDERS, LLP 600 PEACHTREE ST. NE, STE. 5200, ATLANTA, GA 30308

KELLY CRANDALL EQ RESEARCH, LLC 1400 16TH ST., 16 MARKET SQR., STE. 400 DENVER, CO 80202

DANIEL MARSH
MGR, RATES AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS
LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALIFORNIA)
9750 WASHBURN ROAD
DOWNEY, CA 90241-7002

FRED STEFANY SOLPLICITY 29899 AGOURA RD., STE. 100 AGOURA HILLS, CA 91301

ANNA CHING SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

CASE ADMINISTRATION SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 8631 RUSH STREET ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

EZANA EMMANUEL POLICY ADVISOR/PROJECT MANAGER SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 8631 RUSH STREET ERIK ANDERSON
PACIFICORP
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY, OR 00000-0000

AUSTIN PEREA ANALYST GREENTECH MEDIA 2 LIBERTY SQUARE, 2ND FL. BOSTON, MA 02109

JONATHAN GOLDBERG HIGHLINE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 1 ROCKEFELLER PLAZA, 30TH FLOOR NEW YORK, NY 10020

LARRY R. ALLEN
NAVY ACQ-UTILITY RATES & STUDIES OFFICE
1322 PATTERSON AV., SE-BLG. 33, STE 1000
WASHINGTON NAVY YARD, DC 20374-5018

MAKDA SOLOMON
UTILITY RATES & STUDIES OFFICE
UNITED STATES NAVY
1322 PATTERSON AVE SE BLDG 33, STE. 1000
WASHINGTON NAVY YARD, DC 20374-5065

MAURICE BRUBAKER BRUBAKER & ASSOCIATES PO BOX 412000 1215 FERN RIDGE PARKWAY, SUITE 208 ST. LOUIS, MO 63141-2000

ADAM LANE
DIRECTOR OF LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS
LOS ANGELES BUSINESS COUNCIL
2029 CENTURY PARK EAST
LOS ANGELES, CA 90067

MILISSA MARONA
DIR - GOV'T & UTILITY RELATIONS
CODA ENERGY
135 E. MAPLE AVE.
MONROVIA, CA 91016

ALLISON BAHEN EDISON INTERNATIONAL 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

ANTHONY HERNANDEZ SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 1515 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

ERIN PULGAR SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

FLETCHER FIELDS REGULATORY CASE MANAGER SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 8631 RUSH STREET ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

MARISSA BLUNSCHI REGULATORY POLICY SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE / PO BOX 800 ROSEMEAD, CA 91770 MICHAEL TOMLIN SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD, CA 91770

MARY C. HOFFMAN
PRESIDENT
SOLUTIONS FOR UTILITIES, INC.
1192 SUNSET DRIVE
VISTA, CA 92081

HC JAY POWELL COMMUNITY ENERGY ACTION NETWORK 3191 NORTH MOUNTAIN VIEW DRIVE SAN DIEGO, CA 92116

BRITTNEY LEE
REGULATORY CASE MGR.
SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32F
SAN DIEGO, CA 92123

DEAN A. KINPORTS
REGULATORY CASE MGR.
SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32F
SAN DIEGO, CA 92123

ELLEN N. ADLER SR. COUNSEL SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32D SAN DIEGO, CA 92123 JAMES STRANGE
CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY, CA 92123

MICHELLE SOMERVILLE REGULATORY CASE MGR. SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32F SAN DIEGO, CA 92123 CENTRAL FILES SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK CT, CP31-E SAN DIEGO, CA 92123-1530

CYNTHIA FANG
SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32E
SAN DIEGO, CA 92123-1530

KEN DEREMER
DIRECTOR, TARIFF & REGULATORY ACCOUNTS
SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
8330 CENURY PARK COURT, CP32C
SAN DIEGO, CA 92123-1548

JOHN MCCARTHY MCCARTHY SOLAR 5355 EL NOCHE WAY SAN DIEGO, CA 92124 JUDI SCHWEITZER SCHWEITZER AND ASSOIATES, INC. 25422 TRABUCO ROAD, SUITE 105-190 LAKE FOREST, CA 92630

JEFF HIRSCH
JAMES J. HIRSCH & ASSOCIATES
12185 PRESILLA ROAD
SANTA ROSA VALLEY, CA 93012-9243

ROBERT A. FUENTES LAW OFFICE OF ROBERT A. FUENTES PO BOX 135 FRESNO, CA 93707

SUE MARA
CONSULTANT
RTO ADVISORS, LLC
164 SPRINGDALE WAY
REDWOOD CITY, CA 94062

JOSEPH F. WIEDMAN SR. REGULATORY & LEGISLATIVE ANALYST PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY 400 COUNTY CENTER, SIXTH FL. REDWOOD CITY, CA 94063

MATTHEW J. SANDERS
DEPUTY COUNTY COUNSEL
SAN MATEO COUNTY COUNSEL'S OFFICE
400 COUNTY CENTER, 6TH FL
REDWOOD CITY, CA 94063
FOR: PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY

MARGARET V. TIDES
DEPUTY COUNTY COUNSEL
SAN MATEO COUNTY
400 COUNTY CENTER, 6TH FL.
REDWOOD CITY, CA 94063-1662
FOR: ON BEHALF OF PENINSULA CLEAN
ENERGY AUTHORITY

JOSEPH D. PETTA
SHUTE, MIHALY & WEINBERGER LLP

LAURA D. BEATON ATTORNEY

396 HAYES STREET SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102 SHUTE, MIHALY & WEINBERGER LLP 396 HAYES STREET SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102

BRIAN KORPICS

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
DEMAND RESPONSE, CUSTOMER GENERATION, AN

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

BURTON MATTSON

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DIVISION

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

CHRISTOPHER WESTLING

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION DEMAND RESPONSE, CUSTOMER GENERATION, AN

AKEA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

JUSTIN H. FONG

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION TRANSPORTATION ENFORCEMENT BRANCH

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

KE HAO OUYANG

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION UTILITY & PAYPHONE ENFORCEMENT BRANCH

AREA 2-E

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

MARIA SOTERO

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

COMMISSIONER GUZMAN ACEVES

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

MARY CLAIRE EVANS

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

COMMISSIONER SHIROMA

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

PATRICK DOHERTY

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DIVISION

ROOM 5044

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

SARAH SHARPE

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

COMMISSIONER GUZMAN ACEVES

ROOM 5303

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

ADAM GERZA

SULLIVAN SOLAR POWER OF CALIFORNIA, INC.

169 11TH STREET

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103

ELISE TORRES STAFF ATTORNEY

THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK
785 MARKET STREET, SUITE 1400

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103

MARCEL HAWIGER STAFF ATTORNEY

THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK

785 MARKET ST., STE. 1400

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103

JESSICA TSE

DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOUCES COOR. SAN FRANCISCO CITY AND COUNTY 1455 MARKET STREET, SUITE 1200

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103

SHELBY NACINO
LEGAL FELLOW

BRIGHTLINE DEFENSE PROJECT

1028A HOWARD ST.

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103

SRINIDHI S. KUMAR PROGRAM MGR.

CALIFORNIA HOUSING PARTNERSHIP 369 PINE STREET, STE. 300 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94104 STEPHANIE WANG POLICY DIR

CALIFORNIA HOUSING PARTNERSHIP 369 PINE STREET, STE. 300 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94104

DEREK JONES

NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC.

ONE MARKET ST., SPEAR TOWER, SUITE 1200

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105

HELEN KANG ATTORNEY AT LAW

ENVIRONMENTAL LAW AND JUSTICE CLINIC

536 MISSION STREET

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105

KAREN SHEA CASE MGR., CUSTOMER PROGRAM KARIN CORFEE MANAGING DIRECTOR PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, B9A SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105 NAVIGANT CONSULTING INC 1 MARKET ST., SPEAR ST. TWR, ST. 1200 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105

LARISSA KOEHLER SENIOR ATTORNEY ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENSE FUND 123 MISSION STREET, 28TH FL. SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105 MELICIA CHARLES SUNRUN INC. 595 MARKET STREET, 29TH FL. SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105

MIKE CADE BUCHALTER, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION 55 SECOND STREET, SUITE 1700 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105 F. JACKSON STODDARD ATTORNEY MORGAN LEWIS & BOCKIUS, LLP ONE MARKET, SPEAR STREET TOWER SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105-1126 FOR: BLUE SKY UTILITY, LLC

ELIAH GILFENBAUM DEPUTY DIR TESLA, INC. 444 DE HARO STREET, STE. 101 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107 FRANCESCA WAHL
SR. POLICY ASSOCIATE, BUS. DEVELOPMENT
TESLA, INC.
444 DE HARO STREET, STE. 101
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

SAMUEL GOLDING
PRESIDENT
COMMUNITY CHOICE PARTNERS, INC.
58 MIRABEL AVENUE
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94110

BUCK ENDEMANN
ATTORNEY
K&L GATES, LLP
FOUR EMBARCADERO, STE 1200
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111

HOWARD GOLUB NIXON PEABODY LLP ONE EMBARCADERO CENTER, 18TH FLR SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111 JILL N. JAFFE NOSSAMAN LLP 50 CALIFORNIA STREET, 34TH FLOOR SAN FRNACISCO, CA 94111

JOHN L. CLARK
ATTORNEY AT LAW
GOODIN, MACBRIDE, SQUERI & DAY. LLP
505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111
FOR: EVERYDAY COMMUNICATIONS CORP.
D/B/A EVERYDAY ENERGY

KATIE JORRIE ATTORNEY DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE, LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111 FOR: PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY

MATTHEW VESPA STAFF ATTORNEY EARTHJUSTICE 50 CALIFORNIA STREET, STE. 500 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111 FOR: SIERRA CLUB PATRICK J. FERGUSON ATTORNEY DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, STE. 800 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111 CROWELL & MORING LLP 275 BATTERY STREET, 23RD FLR. SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111

MARTIN MATTES NOSSAMAN LLP 50 CALIFORNIA STREET, STE. 3400 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94111-4799 STEPHEN BJORGAN NETZERO ENERGY LLC PO BOX 14247 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94114

MEGHA LAKHCHAURA DIR. PUBLIC POLICY SUNRUN INC 595 MARKET STREET SAN FRANCISOC, CA 94115 SURYA SWAMY NAVIGANT CONSULTING ONE MARKET ST., SPEAR ST. TWR., STE.1200 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94117 CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 425 DIVISADERO, STE. 303 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94117 CHARLES R. MIDDLEKAUFF ATTORNEY PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 7442, MC-B30A-2475 SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94120

STACY WALTER
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 7442
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94120-7442

SARA STECK MYERS
ATTORNEY AT LAW
122 - 28TH AVENUE
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94121
FOR: CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF
CORRECTIONS AND REHABILITATION (CDCR)

ZAVISLAK LAW EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 94124 CASE COORDINATION
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 770000: MC B9A
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94177

SARAH VAN CLEVE ENERGY POLICY ADVISOR TESLA, INC. 3500 DEER CREEK ROAD PALO ALTO, CA 94304 CHRIS KING
CHIEF REGULATORY OFFICER
SIEMENS SMART GRID SOLUTIONS
4000 E. 3RD AVE., STE 400
FOSTER CITY, CA 94404-4827

BARRY LESKA ALAMEDA MUNICIPAL POWER 2000 GRAND STREET / PO BOX H ALAMEDA, CA 94501 MICHAEL ROCHMAN
MANAGING DIR.
SCHOOL PROJECT UTILITY RATE REDUCTION
1850 GATEWAY BLVD., STE. 235
CONCORD, CA 94520

MATTHEW BARMACK
DIR. - MARKET & REGULATORY ANALYSIS
CALPINE CORPORATION
4160 DUBLIN BLVD., SUITE 100
DUBLIN, CA 94568

ANITA TAFF-RICE ATTORNEY AT LAW ICOMMLAW 1547 PALOS VERDES, SUITE 298 WALNUT CREEK, CA 94597

ALLIE DETRIO
POLICY MANAGER
ENGIE SERVICES
500 12TH STREET, SUITE 300
OAKLAND, CA 94607

GERALD L. LAHR ABAG POWER 101 EIGHTH STREET OAKLAND, CA 94607

ELISE HUNTER
DIR - POLICY & REGULATORY AFFAIRS
GRID ALTERNATIVES
1171 OCEAN AVE., STE. 200
OAKLAND, CA 94608

STEPHEN CAMPBELL PROJECT MGR. GRID ALTERNATIVES 1171 OCEAN AVE., SUITE 200 OAKLAND, CA 94608

MARTA TOMIC
PROGRAM DIRECTOR
VOTE SOLAR
360 22ND STREET, SUITE 730
OAKLAND, CA 94612

RACHEL BIRD
DIR - POLICY & BUS. DEVELOPMENT, WEST
BORREGO SOLAR SYSTEMS, INC.
360 22ND STREET, SUITE 600
OAKLAND, CA 94612

SACHU CONSTANTINE
MANAGING DIRECTOR, REGULATORY
VOTE SOLAR
360 22ND ST, SUITE 730
OAKLAND, CA 94612

REKHA RAO NEXTILITY 2015 SHATTUCK AVE., 5TH FLOOR BERKELEY, CA 94704

STEPHANIE CHEN
THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE
1918 UNIVERSITY AVE., 2ND FL.
BERKELEY, CA 94704
FOR: THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE

NANCY RADER EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CALIFORNIA WIND ENERGY ASSOCIATION 1700 SHATTUCK AVENUE, SUITE 17 BERKELEY, CA 94709 TOM BEACH
PRINCIPAL
CROSSBORDER ENERGY
2560 NINTH STREET, SUITE 213A
BERKELEY, CA 94710

PHILLIP MULLER
PRESIDENT
SCD ENERGY SOLUTIONS
436 NOVA ALBION WAY
SAN RAFAEL, CA 94903

JASON SIMON
DIR - POLICY STRATEGY
ENPHASE ENERGY
1420 N. MCDOWELL BLVD.
PETALUMA, CA 94954

C. SUSIE BERLIN LAW OFFICES OF SUSIE BERLIN 1346 THE ALAMEDA, STE. 7, NO. 141 SAN JOSE, CA 95126

ROBERT SARVEY
CALIFORNIANS FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY, INC.
501 W. GRANTLINE RD.
TRACY, CA 95376

LON W. HOUSE, PH.D ACWA ENERGY CONSULTANT WATER & ENERGY CONSULTING 2795 E. BIDWELL, STE. 100-176 FOLSOM, CA 95630

ALEXIA RETALLACK
MGR. - MRKT & GOV'T AFFAIRS
PIONEER COMMUNITY ENERGY
2510 WARREN DRIVE, STE. B
ROCKLIN, CA 95677
FOR: PIONEER COMMUNITY ENERGY AND
MPOWER PROGRAM

CAROLYN KEHREIN ENERGY MANAGEMENT SERVICES 2602 CELEBRATION WAY WOODLAND, CA 95776

BRIAN ORION STOEL RIVES LLP 500 CAPITOL MALL, STE. 1600 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

KEVIN WOODRUFF
CONSULTANT
WOODRUFF EXPERT SERVICES
1127 - 11TH STREET, SUITE 514
SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

SARAH KOZAL ASSOCIATE STOEL RIVES LLP 500 CAPITOL MALL, STE. 1600 NATHANIEL MALCOLM REGULATORY LAW CLERK MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 1125 TAMALPAIS AVE. SAN RAFAEL, CA 94901

MARC KOLB GRID DEL SOL CONSULTING 46 VISTA DEL SOL MILL VALLEY, CA 94941

RAGHU BELUR VP - PROD. & STRATEGIC INITIATIVES ENPHASE ENERGY, INC. 1420 NORTH MCDOWELL BLVD. PETALUMA, CA 94954

MICHELLE BOUNDS SOLAR ROOF SERVICES, LLC 815 CLEARVIEW DRIVE SAN JOSE, CA 95133

GARRICK JONES
JBS ENERGY
311 D STREET
WEST SACRAMENTO, CA 95605

TIM MCKEEVER
STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP MANAGER
PETERSENDEAN ROOFING AND SOLAR INC
12150 TRIBUTARY POINT DR., SUITE 250
GOLD RIVER, CA 95670

MATTHEW SWINDLE
CEO & FOUNDER
NLINE ENERGY, INC.
5170 GOLDEN FOOTHILL PARKWAY
EL DORADO HILLS, CA 95762
FOR: NLINE ENERGY, INC.

BETH OLHASSO THE DOLPHIN GROUP 925 L STREET, SUITE 800 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

JOSHUA BUSWELL-CHARKOW
CAMPAIGN DIRECTOR
CALIFORNIA SOLAR & STORAGE ASSOCIATION
1107 9TH ST, STE 820
SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

REGULATORY CLERK
BRAUN BLAISING SMITH WYNNE, PC
915 L STREET, STE. 1480
SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

SCOTT BLAISING
COUNSEL
BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN & SMITH, P.C.
915 L STREET, SUITE 1480

SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

ANDREW B. BROWN

STEVEN KELLY POLICY DIR INDEPENDENT ENERGY PRODUCERS ASSOCIATION

1215 K STREET, STE. 900 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

ATTORNEY AT LAW ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS LLP 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO, CA 95816-5905

LYNN HAUG ELLISON, SCHNEIDER & HARRIS L.L.P.

2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO, CA 95816-5931

0/ MASTACHE SR. ATTY - OFF. OF GEN. COUNSEL SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 6301 S STREET, MS A311 SACRAMENTO, CA 95817

MEREDITH ALEXANDER GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS REPRESENTATIVE **SMUD** 6301 S ST. SACRAMENTO, CA 95817

ANN L. TROWBRIDGE ATTORNEY AT LAW DAY CARTER & MURPHY LLP 3620 AMERICAN RIVER DRIVE, STE. 205 SACRAMENTO, CA 95864 FOR: AGRICULTURAL ENERGY CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION (AECA)

SHERI KIDWELL NORTH STATE SOLAR ENERGY PO BOX 899 FOREST RANCH, CA 95942

State Service

DAVID SCRIBNER HELENA OH CHIEF COUNSEL DEPT OF COMMUNITY SERVICES & DEVELOPMENT EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

CPUC EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000 FOR: ORA

MARTHA GUZMAN ACEVES OFFICE OF COMMISSIONER GUZMAN ACEVES CPUC - EXEC. DIV. EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

SEAN SIMON CPUC - ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

FADI DAYE CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ELECTRIC SAFETY AND RELIABILITY BRANCH 320 West 4th Street Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90013

AROCLES AGUILAR CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION LEGAL DIVISION ROOM 5138 505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

NICHOLAS FUGATE SUPPLY ANALSYS OFFICE CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

TORY N. FRANCISCO REGULATORY ANALYST CPUC - ENERGY DIV. EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY, CA 00000

ANA M. GONZALEZ CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DIVISION ROOM 2106 505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

ASAL ESFAHANI CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION DEMAND RESPONSE, CUSTOMER GENERATION, AN **AREA** 505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

CODY NAYLOR DANIEL BUCH CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

TRANSPORTATION ENFORCEMENT BRANCH ARFA 505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

ELECTRICITY PRICING AND CUSTOMER PROGRAM AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

DAVID PECK

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

PRESIDENT PICKER ROOM 4108

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

EHREN SEYBERT

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION MARKET STRUCTURE, COSTS AND NATURAL GAS

ROOM 5303

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

ELIZABETH FOX

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ELECTRICITY PRICING AND CUSTOMER PROGRAM

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

GABRIEL PETLIN

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION DEMAND RESPONSE, CUSTOMER GENERATION, AN

AREA 4-A

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

JAMES RALPH

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

PRESIDENT PICKER

ROOM 5037

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

FOR: ORA

JEANNE MCKINNEY

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DIVISION

ROOM 5112

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

KERRY FLEISHER

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION DEMAND RESPONSE, CUSTOMER GENERATION, AN UTILITY & PAYPHONE ENFORCEMENT BRANCH

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

MARNA ANNING

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

MARY F. MCKENZIE

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DIVISION

ROOM 5109

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

MICHAEL MINKUS

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

EXECUTIVE DIVISION

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

PHILLIP ENIS

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION BROADBAND, POLICY & ANALYSIS BRANCH

ROOM 2101

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

RISA HERNANDEZ

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

CONSUMER PROTECTION AND ENFORCEMENT DIVI

ROOM 2104

505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

SHANNON O'ROURKE

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION DEMAND RESPONSE, CUSTOMER GENERATION, AN

AREA 4-A

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

STANLEY KUAN

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

ELECTRICITY PRICING AND CUSTOMER PROGRAM

AREA

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

TIM G. DREW

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ELECTRICITY PLANNING & POLICY BRANCH

AREA 4-A

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

TOVAH TRIMMING

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

LEGAL DIVISION **ROOM 4107**

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

VALERIE KAO

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DIVISION

ROOM 5005

XIAN "CINDY" LI

CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

ELECTRICITY PLANNING & POLICY BRANCH

ROOM 4104

505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

YULIYA SHMIDT
CALIF PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
COMMISSIONER RECHTSCHAFFEN
ROOM 4209
505 VAN NESS AVENUE
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

MATT COLDWELL
CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION
ELECTRICITY ANALYSIS OFFICE
1516 NINTH STREET, MS-20
SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3214

LYNN MARSHALL
CONSULTANT
CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION
1516 9TH STREET, MS-20
SACRAMENTO, CA 95814

BRIAN MCCOLLOUGH ENERGY ASSESSMENTS DIVSION CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 0203 9TH STREET SACRAMENTO, CA 95818

TOP OF PAGE BACK TO INDEX OF SERVICE LISTS